
 

Agenda - Public Accounts Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 5 - Tŷ Hywel 

Meeting date: 5 February 2018 

Meeting time: 12.45

For further information contact: 

Fay Bowen 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPAC@assembly.wales
------ 

(Pre-meeting)  

(12.45 - 13.00) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(13.00)   

2 Paper(s) to note 

(13.00) (Pages 1 - 2)  

3 The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales 

Project: Evidence Session with the Welsh Government 

(13.05 - 14.00) (Pages 3 - 30)  

Research Briefing 

 

Shan Morgan – Permanent Secretary, Welsh Government 

Andrew Slade - Director General, Economy, Skills and Natural Resources, 

Welsh Government 

Andrew Jeffreys - Director, Treasury, Welsh Government 

4 Public Procurement: Committee correspondence 

(14.00) (Pages 31 - 85)  

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN 1 - Inquiry into Public Procurement: Response from 

Natural Resources Wales 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN 2 - Inquiry into Public Procurement: Response from NHS 

Wales Shared Services Partnership 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



PAC(5)-04-18 PTN 3 - Inquiry into Public Procurement: Response from Welsh 

Government 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN 4 - Inquiry into Public Procurement: Response from Welsh 

Local Government Association 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN 5 - Inquiry into Public Procurement: Response from Jayne 

Lynch – Cardiff University 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN 6 - Inquiry into Public Procurement: Response from 

Higher Education Purchasing Consortium, Wales (HEPCW)  

5 Public Procurement: Evidence Session 1 

(14.05 - 14.50) (Pages 86 - 133)  

Research Briefing 

 

PAC(5)-04-18 Paper 1 – Caerphilly County Borough Council 

PAC(5)-04-18 Paper 2 – Cardiff Council 

 

Liz Lucas – Head of Procurement, Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Steve Robinson - Head of Procurement, Cardiff Council 

(Break)  

(14.50 - 15.00) 

6 Public Procurement: Evidence Session 2 (By video conference) 

(15.00 -15.50) (Pages 134 - 141)  

PAC(5)-04-18 Paper 3 – Denbighshire County Council 

 

Mike Halstead – Head of Audit and Procurement, Conwy County Borough 

Council 

Arwel Staples – Strategic Procurement Manager, Denbighshire County Council 

7 Public Procurement: Evidence Session 3 

(15.50 - 16.40) (Pages 142 - 155)  

PAC(5)-04-18 Paper 4 – Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 

 



Sophie Howe – Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 

Dr Eurgain Powell - Office of the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 

8 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: 

(16.40)   

Items 9 & 10 and Items 1 & 2 of the meeting on 12 February 2018 

9 Public Procurement: Consideration of evidence received 

(16.40 - 16.50)   

10 The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales  

Project: Consideration of evidence received 

(16.50 - 17.00)   



 

Concise Minutes - Public Accounts Committee 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

Meeting date: Monday, 29 January 2018 

Meeting time: 14.03 - 16.59

This meeting can be viewed  

on Senedd TV at: 

http://senedd.tv/en/4505 

 
------ 

Attendance 

Category Names 

Assembly Members: 

Nick Ramsay AM (Chair) 

Mohammad Asghar (Oscar) AM 

Vikki Howells AM 

Rhianon Passmore AM 

Lee Waters AM 

Witnesses: 

Irfan Alam, Cardiff City Council 

Kate Devonport, Conwy County Borough Council 

Professor Sally Holland, Children’s Commissioner for Wales 

Sally Jenkins, All Wales Heads of Children’s Services 

Rachel Thomas, Children’s Commissioner for Wales 

Gareth Jenkins, Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Wales Audit Office: Anthony Barrett – Assistant Auditor General for Wales 

Committee Staff: 
Meriel Singleton (Second Clerk) 

Claire Griffiths (Deputy Clerk) 

 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2

http://senedd.tv/
http://senedd.tv/en/4505


1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest  

1.1 The Chair welcomed the Members to the meeting. 

1.2 Apologies were received from Neil Hamilton AM and Adam Price AM. There were 

no substitutes.  

1.3 The Chair welcomed the visitors from the Bermuda Public Accounts Committee 

who were observing the session. 

2 Paper(s) to note  

2.1 The papers were noted. 

3 Care experienced children and young people: Evidence Session 1  

3.1 The Committee took evidence from Sally Holland, Children’s Commissioner for 

Wales and Rachel Thomas, Head of Policy and Public Affairs, Office for the Children’s 

Commissioner for Wales as part of their inquiry into care experienced children and 

young people. 

4 Care experienced children and young people: Evidence Session 2  

4.1 The Committee took evidence from Irfan Alam, Assistant Director Children’s 

Services, Cardiff City Council; Kate Devonport, Head of Children, Family & Safeguarding 

Services, Conwy County Borough Council; Sally Jenkins, Head of Children and Family 

Services, Newport City Council and Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director for Children’s 

Services, Caerphilly County Borough Council as part of their inquiry into care 

experienced children and young people. 

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business:  

5.1 The motion was agreed. 

6 Care experienced children and young people: Consideration of 

evidence received  

6.1 The evidence was considered. 

Pack Page 2



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 3

Agenda Item 3By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN1 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Natural Resources Wales – Victoria Rose-Piper, Head of Procurement 

I am writing in response to your letter to Kevin Ingram of 19 December 2017 

asking for views on public procurement in Wales, specifically the Auditor General’s 

Reports and points highlighted in the letter. I am responding on his behalf. 

I can confirm that Natural Resources Wales (NRW) agrees with the findings and 

recommendations from both the National Procurement Service (November 2017) 

and Public Procurement in Wales (October 2017) reports. Both of the Reports were 

looking to examine whether there is evidence that current procurement 

arrangements are helping to deliver value for money and are fit for the future. 

Although we agree with the recommendations, as far as they go, it does not appear 

to be possible from the Reports to take a view on the ‘value for money’ and ‘fit for 

the future’ questions.  

Some key overarching concerns lie in the need for greater clarity on the scope and 

role of the National Procurement Service (NPS) and improved communication when 

policies or approaches change. Greater consistency is required in policy and 

governance across all Public-Sector bodies as well as improved effectiveness and 

shared learning. More innovative thinking is needed and an examination as to 

whether the Framework approach adopted by NPS is yielding the best value for 

money or maximisation of the Well being objectives. 

In response to the specific points highlighted: 

The overall impact of the 2015 Procurement Policy Statement;  

The overall impact of the 2015 Procurement Policy Statement was diminished by 

the absence of established metrics for Public Bodies to report against. It did 

however provide a framework under which the Public Bodies in Wales could 

establish their own policies whilst providing a consistent approach to procurement 

as far as the public and supply chain are concerned. A new policy statement, as 

indicated by NPS, has been anticipated for nearly 12 months and this may well 

have impacted on organisations reduced drive to progress in this area whilst 

waiting for a potentially new approach and direction. 

Pack Page 31

Agenda Item 4



The planned ‘Programme for Procurement’ and actions that the Welsh 

Government is taking forward to review the fitness of individual public 

bodies’ procurement arrangements, to promote e-procurement; and  

There was little information released on the planned ‘Programme for Procurement’ 

prior to the announcement of the review and therefore we are unable to comment 

on this specifically. The programme for fitness checks hasn’t been clearly 

communicated. NRW was involved in a pilot of the 2nd round but the third-party 

checks and assessment of content was delayed.  

The recommendations from the pilot weren’t undertaken and clarification is still 

required on several of the sections for the fitness check to be a reliable and 

accurate reflection of a public-sector body’s progress. 

Although a very effective tool internally to drive forward best practice the lack of 

coordination of the fitness checks programme discouraged public bodies from 

pursuing this externally. 

Issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key 

procurement capability.  

NRW agrees with the issues raised in the Public Procurement for Wales Report 

where it states “Public bodies have experienced long-standing issues with the 

recruitment and retention of suitably qualified procurement staff, exacerbated by 

some parts of the public sector offering more favourable terms and conditions’’, 

although recruitment is more of an issue than retention for NRW. 

The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the context 

of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s recent 

statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s plans to merge 

the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board.  

There has been, historically, a lack of visibility and sharing of information on 

governance arrangements and best practice across Public Sector Bodies, the NPS 

and Welsh Government Procurement Functions, although this has improved 

recently. 

The measure of spend in Wales, although an effective statistic in identifying the 

multiplier effects achieved because of activity undertaken by NPS, is not a factor 

that NPS has any control over given the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the 

need to advertise and engage more widely. 

Pack Page 32



NRW is very interested in the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government 

proposal to fill supply voids. Will additional funding be available to assist suppliers 

in Wales to tender more effectively for Public Sector Procurement contracts? 

NRW supports plans to merge the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board 

as historically there has been a conflict in objectives and approach leading to a lack 

of effectiveness. NRW suggests a review of scope and clear communication as to 

the role of this board to the wider public sector. 

The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement arrangements 

through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and public buying 

organisations, with a particular focus on the role and development of the 

National Procurement Service.  

NRW supports the recommendations listed from the Report on the National 

Procurement Service with more details provided below. NRW wholly supports and 

embraces the arrangements undertaken and provided by the NPS and supports 

collaborative procurement in generic and commonly sought products and services. 

More development needs to be undertaken with sponsored bodies to ensure that 

the resulting frameworks meet the requirements of these bodies through correctly 

and collaboratively engineered specifications.  

National Procurement Service Report (November 2017) 

NRW endorses all elements of Recommendation 1, especially parts C & D. 

NRW supports the review of the opt out process highlighted in Recommendation 2 

and highlights mixed messages and poor communication regarding the continuing 

need to apply to opt out as being a key failure in this area of late. The opt out 

process needs to be simple and needs to be authorised within the public-sector 

organisations themselves rather than need approval by NPS. 

Although supportive of Recommendation 3 and the need to effectively fund the 

NPS, any solution needs agreement of member organisations. 

Recommendation 4 identifies a need for clarity within the NPS annual report. NRW 

strongly supports this and suggests additional due diligence is required on the 

claims made within the annual report. In addition, the savings identified are often 

not realised by the public sector organisations using the frameworks and a review 

of the use of the ‘Efficiencies Methodology’ and a calculator tool for public sector 

organisations to calculate the savings based on their own baseline figures is 

essential. 

Pack Page 33



NRW supports Recommendation 5 but seeks further assurance that SMEs are being 

engaged with in line with the Opening Doors Policy. 

Public Procurement in Wales (October 2017) 

NRW supports Recommendation 1 but moreover requests that the NPS clarify the 

scope of spend data required and works with each public-sector body to ensure 

due diligence on sample data sets provided to ensure consistency. Further 

evidence of the benefit of the spend analysis tool should be demonstrated before 

the wider sponsored bodies will be expected to engage. For those with relatively 

small spend, further refinement of analysis and categorisation of spend is required 

for the tool to be useful to all stakeholders. 

NRW supports Recommendation 2 and is keen to see further cross sector 

representation and clarity on roles and responsibilities to ensure consistency 

across the public sector for the benefit of the supplier base and public purse. 

NRW supports Recommendation 3 but calls for greater clarity on the minimum 

requirements expected from organisations Procurement Strategies for consistency. 

NRW welcomes the need to review annually as an overarching approach. 

NRW endorses Recommendation 4 and further to the comments detailed above 

would welcome a strong, structured, consistent and well communicated approach 

to the Fitness Checks that enables public sector organisations to benchmark 

themselves. There needs to be acceptance that not all public-sector organisations 

operate their procurement approaches in the same way, i.e.  they may not have 

adopted a category management approach, and care should be taken not to 

penalise these organisations when they are adopting best practice in their chosen 

approach. 

NRW is currently undertaking a pilot to demonstrate how the Well-being Objectives 

can be delivered through good procurement and supply chain involvement. A 

substantial contributor is from Community Benefits and NRW encourages the 

adoption of Recommendation 5 as a requirement to deliver maximum value for 

money. 

Although NRW recognises the issues highlighted in Recommendation 6, more 

clarity is required as to why NPS struggle to recruit and retain when their reward 

package is significantly better than other public sector organisations. The focus 

should not only be on technical development but also leadership and management. 

Pack Page 34



NRW uses the SQUID for all procurements over £25k and encourages further 

promotion of the tool as highlighted in Recommendation 7. More engagement with 

public sector bodies for continuous improvement of this tool would be welcomed. 

I hope that the views of NRW help to support your inquiry into public procurement 

in Wales. If there is any further information required then please let me know. 

Pack Page 35



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN2 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership 

Thank you for your letter dated the 19 December 2017, relating to the review of 

Public Procurement in the Welsh Public sector. I would firstly like to thank you for 

the opportunity to comment on the report, and specifically to address the points 

raised in your letter. This response covers the views from NWSSP and we would 

welcome the opportunity for further discussion on the points raised.  

1. The Welsh Government’s leadership role for public 

procurement in Wales.  

the overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement 

1. Strategic  NWSSP Response  

Welsh Government will:  

set out a 'maturity model', 

against which development 

of procurement can be 

measured across the Welsh 

public sector.  

Facilitate a Procurement 

Fitness Check Programme, 

to include a self-assessment 

model for eligible 

organisations  

Provide a standard template 

against which public bodies 

will report the outcome and 

progress against action 

plans.  

Provide access to policy, 

advice and resources which 

enable public bodies to 

improve procurement 

outcomes.  

The Welsh public sector will: 

measure themselves against 

the maturity model, by 

undertaking an annual 

Procurement Fitness Check 

and reporting the 

recommendations and 

action plan progress to 

Welsh Government. 

The principle of 

procurement being 

recognised as having a 

significant role to play in 

extracting both financial 

and non-financial benefits 

from the significant £5b 

spent within the public 

sector in Wales was very 

welcome. The specific 

intent to provide a maturity 

model emanated from the 

first work that was 

conducted on the fitness 

checks, which themselves 

was a feature of the 

McClelland review. The 

initial approach to 

undertaking the fitness 

checks had some flaws as 

they were undertaken by 

two separate organisations, 

nevertheless there was an 

attempt to bring some 

degree of consistency of 

Pack Page 36



consideration of these 

together. In the intervening 

period, there has been 

limited activity undertaken 

using this as a model for 

comparison and across the 

Welsh public sector little 

has emanated from this 

work. We believe the 

intention was to implement 

a further process of self-

assessment for those 

organisations, who were 

deemed sufficiently mature, 

against a new model that 

was to be developed; 

however, this has not 

transpired either. NWSSP 

have worked to address 

those areas that were 

agreed as part of our 

improvement plan. The 

work around policy work 

has also been limited 

although we fully support 

the positive work that has 

been undertaken around 

joint bidding, modern 

slavery and future 

generations. 

2. Professionally resourced     

Welsh Government will:  

Promote adoption of a 

procurement competency 

framework setting out 

qualifications, experience 

and expertise that will 

The Welsh public sector will:  

Ensure adequate skills and 

resources are in place to 

carry out effective 

procurement and contract 

All within the Procurement 

profession welcomed this; 

however, the progress to 

develop a national 

competency framework has 

been slow. Internally within 

Pack Page 37



support a structured 

procurement career. 

Provide routes to training 

and development, including 

those, which enable public 

bodies to cultivate 

professional procurement 

and commercial expertise. 

Drive forward the shared 

services programme, 

enabling public bodies to 

utilise resources to best 

effect. 

management.  

Where gaps are identified 

within organisations, 

consider opportunities to 

share expertise across 

organisational boundaries  

have a procurement training 

strategy, which addresses 

resource and skills gaps, 

and share this with Welsh 

Government to support 

future skills development 

strategy.  

Incentivise procurement 

officers to maintain their 

continuous professional 

development. 

the NHS, we have made 

some progress on this. 

Over the last few years, the 

central Value Wales funding 

to support training & 

development programmes 

has reduced and this has 

come at a time when 

recruitment and retention 

remains a significant 

challenge to many in the 

Welsh public sector 

procurement profession. 

The ambition to support a 

shared collaborative model 

has really only manifested 

itself within the NHS, with 

the establishment of a 

shared service model to 

take advantage of both 

economies of scale and 

skill and this has clearly 

derived a number of 

benefits since its inception. 

As part of the programme 

of bringing NHS 

Procurement staff together 

under a shared services 

model, it was recognised 

that there was a clear 

difference in the extent to 

which training and 

development of staff had 

been undertaken. NWSSP 

has needed to invest 

significant additional 

resources in wider training 

and development, but 

Pack Page 38



particularly professional 

training underpinned 

through attainment 

through CIPS. This 

approach is being taken 

forward in partnership with 

the University of South 

Wales (UoSW) and 

University of Bangor. In 

addition, more recently this 

investment has extended 

into a wider support of a 

Masters programme, which 

is now CIPS, accredited. An 

informal partnership of 

training with UoSW is being 

developed with a number of 

students spending time on 

placement programmes 

within NWSSP. The 

development of NPS has 

also appeared in the 

intervening period, and 

whilst this has helped to 

address some aspects of 

the demand, there has been 

a disparity in pay, which 

has further been fuelled by 

the salaries offered within 

the NPS in comparison to 

those in other parts of the 

Welsh public sector. There 

are clearly still differences 

in pay across the Welsh 

public sector, something 

picked up within the audit 

report. Although it is 

unclear how this is to be 

Pack Page 39



addressed going forward, 

particularly given the 

difficulties of different 

terms of conditions, 

particularly where they are 

nationally agreed and the 

continued discrepancies in 

incentives offered by 

organisations. For example, 

an additional payment is 

being made for having a 

CIPS qualification in some 

parts of the Public Sector 

regardless of the length of 

experience. We think it will 

be important to effectively 

establish an independent 

base line of comparator 

jobs across the public 

sector (this is not a task to 

be underestimated) In order 

to understand the reasons 

and potential with regard to 

pay differentials. How this 

can then be addressed, I 

am sure will be subject of 

further consideration. 

Economic, Social and 

Environmental Impact 

  

Welsh Government will:  

Maximise the opportunities 

presented by the revised EU 

Procurement Directive to 

drive economic, social and 

environmental impact 

provide leadership, 

guidance and tools on 

The Welsh public sector will:  

Provide leadership on 

procurement best practice 

use a whole life costing 

approach to procurement 

decisions, taking account of 

the long-term impact. 

This is an area where there 

has been some progress 

within Welsh Government, 

providing advice and 

guidance around joint 

bidding strategies, Modern 

Slavery, Future Generations 

and continued 

Pack Page 40



procurement best practice.  

Issue updated policy 

guidance on ethical 

procurement issues 

including but not limited to 

the opportunity to reserve 

contracts for suppliers with 

a workforce of 30% or more 

disadvantaged workers the 

opportunity to reserve 

contracts for suppliers with 

a social ethos e.g. 

Cooperatives and Mutuals at 

first tender. 

Impact of the Modern 

Slavery Act on supply chain 

management. 

Provide intelligence on the 

make-up of the Welsh 

Economy to support 

development of 

Be proactive in managing 

suppliers, considering the 

whole supply chain. 

Identify areas of 

expenditure, which can be 

reserved for suppliers with a 

workers.  

Identify areas of 

expenditure which can be 

reserved for suppliers with a 

social ethos 

e.g. Co-operatives and 

Mutuals at first tender. 

Apply the Sustainability Risk 

Assessment to all 

procurements above 

£25,000 

development of tools to 

support this, including 

SQuID and Sell2Wales 

functionality.  

Some best practice 

guidance has been issued 

to support this. NWSSP 

have included sustainable 

risk assessments to all 

procurements above £25k 

4.Community Benefits      

Welsh Government will:  

provide Community Benefits 

policy; strengthening 

support available on the 

ground and challenging the 

application 

The Welsh public sector will: 

appoint a community 

benefits champion for their 

organisation and advise 

Welsh Government apply a 

Community Benefits 

approach to all public sector 

procurements apply the 

Measurement Tool to all 

such contracts over £1m, as 

a minimum.  

Provide justification for all 

Again, this has been an 

area under development, 

where work has been done, 

but further work has been 

requested, particularly 

given the experience and 

the practicalities of 

identifying community 

benefits across a number 

of areas. Whilst some 

progress has been made on 

this, there would be an 

opportunity to develop 

Pack Page 41



contracts valued above £1m 

where the approach has not 

been used  

further work through a 

measurement tool that has 

been requested.  

5.Open, accessible 

competition 

  

Welsh Government will:  

provide 

www.sell2wales.co.uk. 

including the SQulD 

common question set. 

Provide Leadership, 

guidance & tools on best 

practice procurement 

approaches  

Improve information on 

forward programmes by 

maintaining publication of 

the Wales Infrastructure 

Investment Plan. 

The Welsh public sector will:  

amend standing orders to 

require advertisement of all 

contracts over £25k on 

www.sell2wales.gov.uk. 

proactively publish their 

forward contract 

programmes on their 

website  

Use appropriate 'lotting' 

strategies.  

Apply the SQulD approach 

as standard to supplier 

selection. Publish contract 

award notices on 

www.sell2wales.gov.uk 

Ensure procurements are 

available and accessible to 

all - including collaborative 

bids (i.e. consortia) Promote 

fair payment  

Again, this has been an 

area where development 

has been supported with 

the Sell2Wales website, the 

development of the SQuID 

into the SQUIZARD and 

further guidance and 

support with this. This has 

been an area where NWSSP 

has been particularly 

proactive in embedding the 

SQuID tools through the 

Bravo technology, which is 

also supported through 

Welsh Governments 

eStrategy Programme 

(albeit this has now come 

to an end, and it is unclear 

and uncertain as to how, if 

at all this will be taken 

forward). The benefit of 

this to SMEs in Wales will 

continue to develop, 

particularly as lotting 

strategies and payment 

terms continues to support 

small businesses.  

6.Simplified Standard 

Processes 

  

Welsh Government will:  

develop and promote 

The Welsh public sector will:  

adopt and embed common 

The investment in 

eProcurement tools was 

highlighted through the 
Pack Page 42

http://www.sell2wales.co.uk/
http://www.sell2wales.gov.uk/
http://www.sell2wales.gov.uk/
http://www.sell2wales.gov.uk/


simplified approaches to 

procurement based upon 

the adoption of common 

systems and processes, 

including the Welsh e- 

procurement service, that 

reduce the cost of doing 

business.  

year change programme to 

accelerate etrading monitor 

the adoption and impact of 

these approaches.  

Provide structured support 

to public bodies to 

undertake business change 

management to support 

effective utilisation of 

eprocurement  

Provide a single point of 

contact for supplier 

feedback 

procurement approaches.  

Make best use of available 

e- procurement tools  

measure themselves against 

the eProcurement Maturity 

model and eProcurement as 

part of the annual 

procurement fitness check 

process  

Encourage supplier 

feedback on ease of process 

and channel through to 

Welsh Government  

Pay all correct invoices on 

time Use Project Bank 

Accounts where appropriate  

Adopt a 'no purchase order 

no payment 'policy for all  

simplified standard process 

under point 5, whilst the 

investment has been 

welcome, the end of the 

programme does at this 

moment in time still cast a 

shadow of uncertainty as to 

how this will be taken 

forward. This is clearly an 

important plank to support 

procurement activity across 

the Welsh public sector. 

Whist there has not 

necessarily been the level 

of consistency of approach 

by organisations that Welsh 

Government would have 

wanted; this nevertheless 

represents the status of the 

position across the wider 

public sector. It is fair to 

say that organisations 

including the NHS have 

been slow to adopt some 

aspects of the policy, 

including a No PO No Pay 

policy. Although this has 

now been agreed and work 

is finally in train to take 

this aspect forward from an 

NHS perspective.  

7.Collaboration   

Welsh Government will:  

deliver collaborative 

contracts and frameworks 

through National 

Procurement Service to the 

The Welsh public sector will:  

participate in the National 

Procurement Service for the 

benefit of Wales and their 

This clearly focuses on the 

establishment of NPS, and 

whilst this is taking place 

and provided a level of 

professional procurement 

Pack Page 43



value of 2.2bn over the next 

2 years.  

Support collaboration and 

the wider shared services 

agenda  

individual organisation.  

Consider opportunities for 

further collaborative 

procurement initiatives  

monitor and report on 

engagement with NPS and 

other collaborative 

initiatives 

function within the Welsh 

public sector, the delivery 

of the perceived benefits 

through the business case 

and subsequent challenges 

the organisation has faced 

have fallen somewhat short 

to the expectations.  

Nevertheless, this is part of 

the wider consideration as 

to how this will be 

addressed and taken 

forward in the future.  

8.Supplier Engagement and 

Innovation 

  

Welsh Government will: 

Provide clear policy 

direction on procurement 

best practice in support of 

public Wales adopting 

approaches to procurement 

that are informed and 

influenced by feedback from 

the supply chain.  

Provide business support to 

suppliers through the 

Business Wales service 

The Welsh public sector will:  

publish a single electronic 

point of contact for supply 

chain queries.  

Ensure de-briefing provides 

adequate tender feedback.  

use outcome based 

specifications where 

appropriate to encourage 

business innovation use pre 

market engagement where 

appropriate  

Regularly publish contract 

award notices  

consider opportunities for 

using new innovation 

partnership provision of the 

Public Contract Regulations  

The approach to this has 

generally improved with 

both NPS and public sector 

organisations having a 

significant degree of 

engagement with suppliers 

through a variety of 

approaches. The support 

through the business Wales 

service continues to less 

effective than it could be 

and more focused around 

the support organisations 

requirements, this 

situation, which has 

manifested itself for a 

number of years and has 

not been addressed. The 

wider issues identified 

within the Procurement 

Policy Statement for 

organisations have 

Pack Page 44



ensure regular contract 

performance management  

generally been followed 

and supported, and various 

formats and events take 

place to support SMEs and 

wider organisations.  

9.Policy Development and 

Implementation 

  

Welsh Government will:  

consult with social partners 

and other relevant 

stakeholders on matters, 

which may be influenced 

through public procurement 

policy. Utilise the general 

designation on procurement 

to issue procurement 

guidance in the form of 

regulatory requirements for  

The Welsh public sector will:  

Deploy the procurement 

guidance issued in all 

relevant contracts. 

As previously stated there 

has been progress made 

around guidance on joint 

bidding, modern slavery 

and future generations, 

although the applicability 

of this and the ability to 

translate this to practical 

issues has been somewhat 

short of ideal. An example 

being the need to train 

staff across the Welsh 

public sector in Modern 

Slavery and this clearly lent 

itself to a consistent 

package of training, which 

could have been developed 

once for wales, however, 

this is a missed 

opportunity, albeit 

attempts are being made to 

address this. Welsh 

Government through both 

Value Wales and the NPS 

have engaged with social 

partners to support key 

procurements.  

 

Pack Page 45



10.Measurement and Impact   

Welsh Government will:  

provide a standard 

framework of procurement 

measures that are 

proportionate and 

demonstrate engagement 

with the WPPS.  

Collate information and 

report to the Minister for 

Finance & Government 

Business and Procurement 

Board for consideration in 

future policy development  

The Welsh public sector will:  

Complete an annual return 

to Welsh Government of 

procurement outcomes, 

achieved through 

procurement  

It was intended this would 

identify a range of KPIs that 

could be consistently 

measured across the Welsh 

public sector, this has not 

taken place so although 

organisations including 

NWSSP developed a range 

of KPIs across P2P and the 

wider programme, which 

continued to be measured 

and reported. This is an 

area that has merit and 

should be further 

developed especially to 

help learn lessons. 

Nevertheless, it would be 

felt that this was still 

something that was 

merited and should be 

continued with and 

supported.  

ii. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to review the 

fitness of individual public bodies’ procurement arrangements, to promote 

eprocurement; and issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention 

of key procurement capability. 

The programme for undertaking Procurement Fitness Checks appears to have 

stalled and little progress has been made over the last year in relation to taking 

them forward following the original tranche of assessments. Following on from the 

initial work there was an expectation that there would have been a cohesive 

programme of activity undertaken to review the outputs across the public sector to 

identify the opportunities highlighted, which would promote the sharing of best 

practice and key learning and perhaps a further programme would have been 

developed centrally to fill any emerging priorities. From an NWSSP we have 

continued to develop our own Procurement development programme and 

Pack Page 46



functionality, which addresses many of the issues raised within the original fitness 

check review and subsequent action plan.  

As far as the eProcurement activities are concerned, the NHS through NWSSP have 

embraced a comprehensive suite of tools that are widely and consistently used 

within NHS Wales. This includes the Oracle Finance and Procurement system, which 

runs across all NHS organisations and has been implemented on a single instance 

multi-organisational structure, with a Standard Chart of Accounts and Coding that 

underpins the whole system. This adequately aids significant reporting and enables 

us to integrate down to order line detail. In addition to this, NWSSP access the 

Bravo product through the Welsh Government Contract for all its contracting 

activity, as well as using the Sell2Wales, Dunn & Bradstreet and Procurement Cards 

through the same arrangements. In addition to this, we have a number of 

supportive technologies through companies who provide electronic trading 

functionality, for both order, transmission and invoice receipting. This gives us a 

comprehensive suite of eTrading tools as well as reporting functionality through 

Oracle into our Qlikview system.  

Further clarity is needed with regard to the future of the Welsh Government 

contract and central programme, which has for a number of years supported the 

use and introduction of a number of these e-procurement tools.  

The recruitment and retention of key procurement capability remains a significant 

challenge for NWSSP and it continues to be highlighted as a significant risk within 

our risk register. It has been evident for a number of years that despite additional 

investment in continued training and development programmes, the retention of 

staff remains a significant problem once staff have attained their professional 

qualification or more worryingly these days there is an increasing demand for part 

qualified middle grade staff who have in our case gained a wide range of 

experience across a number of areas of the organisation. This predominantly 

manifests itself in the professional frontline procurement and sourcing teams, 

although professional drivers of HGVs to support our supply chain operation are 

equally problematic. It must be noted that the challenge of recruitment of 

professional procurement staff is not unique to the NHS Wales or indeed the Welsh 

Public Sector. We are aware from our extensive network of contacts across the 

wider UK that this is an ongoing problem and in some parts of the country 

particularly London there are on average 50% of the senior procurement staff on 

interim contracts through agencies because of the problem recruiting staff to 

substantive posts.  

Pack Page 47



The audit recommendation to review this is welcomed along with any initiative or 

recommendations that would help address this problem. However, there will need 

for very careful consideration of the national terms and conditions of employment 

contracts, which particularly underpin the NHS position, and whilst this may not be 

insurmountable, it is a factor that will need careful consideration along with the 

potential to push up the employment rates within the recruitment market. Working 

with the NHS Finance colleagues and NHS workforce colleagues we have committed 

to review the options for Procurement within the NHS including the potential 

introduction of a recruitment premium, which we believe is being offered in some 

other parts of the public sector, but was not a feature of the NHS terms of 

conditions of contract through Agenda for Change. Further work to highlight and 

understand the extent of the problem is needed.   

iii. The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the 

context of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s recent 

statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s plans to merge 

the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board.  

The statement by the Cabinet Secretary for Finance to review the NPS and National 

Procurement Boards is welcomed and fully supported by NWSSP who have actively 

participated in both Boards over the past few years. Holding a review at this point 

seems very sensible and offers an opportunity to look at what governance 

arrangements are appropriate and how these should be shaped to drive 

procurement across the Welsh public sector for the near future.  

iv. The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement 

arrangements through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and 

public buying organisations, with a particular focus on the role and 

development of the National Procurement Service.  

From an NHS perspective, the establishment of NWSSP and the partnership model 

has been a catalyst for the significant and further development of the collaborative 

arrangements, which underpin many of the support services provided to NHS 

Wales. In particular, there has been a history of closer working across the 

procurement arena, which has been further strengthened and built upon over the 

last few years when the NHS has taken advantage of economies of scale, skill, 

consolidation and standardisation of systems and processes. The added 

momentum and benefit of incorporating the Accounts Payable, procurement and 

supply chain functions have clearly started to bare significant fruit and now forms 

an integral important part of the wider P2P operation within NHS Wales. The 

savings delivered under NWSSP are substantial and bare testament to a number of 

improvements in the operating effectiveness of a range of services including 

Pack Page 48



management of a single electronic catalogue for Wales, the development of e-

Trading circa now approaching 90% across NHS Wales, and the development of a 

range of KPIs and reporting activity. There has also been significant investment in 

the development of staff to support the challenges that we face, but also to 

attempt to address some of the recruitment and retention issues previously 

covered. The implementation of standard operating processes and procedures has 

also provided a solid basis on which to development and this remains part of a 

wider programme of activity underpinned by the further development of the No PO 

No Pay policy, which is now part of a work stream through the Finance Academy 

across NHS Wales. The wider collaboration both within the Welsh public sector and 

indeed further a field, where deemed appropriate continues to be an important 

part of the work that has been undertaken and the NHS Procurement strategy that 

was developed through 2017, highlights and points to a number of initiatives and 

issues which form part of our 5 year programme of activity. NHS Wales has 

welcomed the development of the NPS and as members of the project team helped 

contribute towards the development of the initial Business Case and the proposed 

setup of the organisation. It is probably fair to say that the introduction of the NPS 

has had a mixed reaction and it has been a “difficult birth” especially given the 

delays in delivering the expected framework contracts and potential savings. That 

said more recently the NPS has begun to deliver a number of arrangements which 

should provide benefit to the wider public sector going forward and the principle 

of collaboration and ‘Once for Wales’ is fully supported. Taking the NPS forward 

remains a challenge especially with an extensive customer base with a mixture of 

requirements and demands. It is timely to review and reflect on the NPS and 

consider those areas on a national or regional basis that the NPS can deliver best 

value and impact.  

Pack Page 49



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN3 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Leadership Role  

Welsh Government plays an important role in setting direction, developing policy 

on areas important to Wales and providing strong, clear leadership in relation to 

public procurement in Wales. It has done this through the Wales Procurement 

Policy Statement (WPPS), which clearly sets out ten principles and outlines what is 

expected of public sector bodies and the Welsh Government in order to secure 

improved outcomes through procurement.  Welsh Government also seeks to lead 

by example wherever possible and has adopted many of the procurement policies 

and tools in the WPPS through its own procurement activities. 

The Wales Procurement Policy Statement 

The Wales Procurement Policy Statement (WPPS) was first issued in 2012 by the 

then Minister for Finance. A refreshed WPPS was published in 2015 so that its 

principles reflected the recent changes to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 

and signalled intent to meet the requirements of the recently passed Wellbeing of 

Future Generations Act.  The public sector in Wales signed up to the Wales 

Procurement Policy Statement, recognising it as setting Welsh Government’s policy 

direction for procurement in Wales. Sign-up has taken the form of formal letters 

and/or endorsement at Procurement Board. 

The impact and progress achieved against each of the principles of the 2015 WPPS 

is summarised below: 

Strategic 

The WPPS requires that procurement be recognised and managed as a strategic 

corporate function that organises and understands expenditure; influences early 

planning and service design and is involved in decision-making to support delivery 

of overarching objectives. 

To help achieve this, a programme of Procurement Fitness Checks was facilitated 

by the Welsh Government in 2014, delivered across 31 organisations. Welsh 

Government offered support to enable organisations to address improvement 

plans which had been identified through the reviews. Following stakeholder 

engagement in 2015, an updated review approach was developed, based on a self 

assessment approach which was then piloted with a small number of public bodes. 

A new capability review programme is now being developed, in line with the review 

Pack Page 50

http://gov.wales/docs/prp/toolkit/june15walesprocurementpolicystatement2015v1.pdf


of the National Procurement Service and Value Wales, as announced by the Cabinet 

Secretary for Finance on 21 September 2017. The WAO Report on Public 

Procurement recommends more consistent application of Fitness Checks, with 

better guidance and analysis provided by Welsh Government, and through 

collaboration it is intended that a new approach to these checks will be achieved 

through a new programme for procurement. 

Professionally Resourced 

The Welsh Government has promoted the Chartered Institute of Procurement and 

Supply (CIPS) global standard as the framework to which Welsh public sector 

bodies should be aligned to support development of professional capability and 

provide individuals with routemaps for skills development to aid future career 

progress. The ESF Home Grown Talent project, which ended in June 2015, 

delivered amongst other things 28 new procurement trainees, who helped a range 

of host organisations save in excess of £7 million.  

Social, Economic and Environmental 

The Welsh Government has provided clear leadership and direction to support 

delivery of wider, positive impacts through procurement. Public bodies have been 

encouraged to adopt the wider definition of ‘Value’ in line with the WPPS and to 

avoid awarding contracts based on price only. Value Wales has developed policy 

advice and guidance in this area to support the WPPS principles and made it 

publicly available on the Procurement Route Planner – specific guidance has been 

produced on the following key policy areas:- 

The Code of Practice 

The Code of Practice on Ethical Employment in Supply Chains, published in March 

2017, ensures fair treatment and terms for employees involved in public contracts 

and addresses issues such as modern day slavery, living wage and false self-

employment.  All organisations in receipt of public funding, directly, or through 

grants or contracts, are expected to sign up.   

Reserved Contracting 

The Welsh Government was the first administration to take advantage of the 

opportunity to reserve contracts for sheltered workshops. Engagement with these 

arrangements was disappointing and there remains a perception that such 

reserved arrangements do not provide the same value for money as can be 

achieved through open market competitions. The Welsh Government is leading on 

Pack Page 51



clarification of the eligibility requirements to facilitate use of reserved contracting 

provisions and is working with Social Business Wales to improve market 

information for the public sector and supply side.  

Better Jobs Closer to Home 

Work is also progressing on Better Jobs Closer to Home – this programme is 

focused on coordinating a range of policy interventions, across Welsh Government, 

to utilise public procurement to create jobs and training in our poorest 

communities.  The programme is included within the ‘Our Valleys Our Future’ 

delivery plan and is implementing four pilots, models of commercial interventions 

that, if successful, can be replicated elsewhere. 

Atamis Spend Analysis Tool 

In order to better understand how the potential of public procurement can be 

realised, Welsh Government has provided a centrally funded spend analysis service 

to the public sector.  The access to up to date and regular stakeholder spend 

information was seen as important area to individual organisations, across the 

public sector and Welsh Government including NPS and Value Wales and the Digital 

and Data group. Since August 2015, through the current service provider, work has 

been ongoing with NPS and organisations across Wales to gather and provide 

access to this. 

The service has given secure access to both view and analyse procurement spend 

data, providing increased visibility on a number of key spend indicators. This 

spend data has supported collaborative procurement opportunities in key category 

areas, also the development and planning of procurement strategies and wider 

policy and programme requirements such as Better Jobs Closer to Home and the 

Decarbonisation agenda. The work undertaken has progressed positively and has 

been successful in meeting its objectives, most notably in the scope and scale of 

spend data collected from organisations 

In response to the recent WAO Report on Public Procurement in Wales WG is 

reviewing its guidance for engagement with the spend analysis project. An 

invitation has been extended to the FE sector to engage and we are exploring 

opportunities for involving sponsored bodies. 

It is intended that a summary of actual spend through its Frameworks will be 

included in NPS Annual Reports. 

Pack Page 52



Joint Bidding 

Innovative approaches like our Joint Bidding guidance is helping ensure public 

contracts are written in a consortia-friendly way and helping overcome challenges 

faced by SMEs in winning large value, collaborative public sector contracts which, 

on their own, they couldn’t compete for.  Sell2Wales reporting data shows that 

during 2017, 25% of all contract notices advertised on Sell2Wales ticked the Joint 

Bidding box indicating the tenders were suitable for consortia bids (928 of 3599 

notices). 

Blacklisting 

The Welsh Government was the first administration to take a firm stance on 

blacklisting and the Procurement Advice Note that was developed provided much-

needed clarity for buyers on the instances where suppliers involved in using 

blacklists could be excluded. Its use across Wales has had a positive effect on the 

industry  

Community Benefits 

Welsh Government has provided support and guidance to enable the Welsh public 

sector to optimise the value of procurement through delivery of community 

benefits.  A series of Community Benefit pilot schemes is being facilitated by the 

Welsh Government to enable public bodies to embed Well-being of Future 

Generations considerations in procurement.  A Community of Practice for public 

sector officers with an interest in or a role in delivering Community Benefits meets 

twice yearly. We have developed drivers to promote application of Community 

Benefits and incentivise its use. A new Community Benefits eLearning module will 

be launched in early 2018 which will help build capability and further promote its 

use. 

Open, accessible competition 

Ensuring public contract opportunities are open and accessible is vital to small 

suppliers and third sector firms and advertising all contracts over £25k on 

Sell2Wales is requirement of the WPPS.   

Low Value Notices 

The number of low value contract notices advertised on Sell2Wales (i.e. those 

which are below the OJEU - Official Journal of the European Union - threshold and 

more likely to be won by smaller Wales-based suppliers and Third Sector firms), 

have increased from 80% of all adverts placed in 2015-16 to 84% in 2016-17.  This 

Pack Page 53



has driven up the number of low value contracts being won by Wales-based 

businesses from 50% in 2015-16 to 55% in 2016-17. 

Welsh Government notes the WAO recommendation that it should promote better 

use of the SQuiD (Supplier Qualification Information Database) and will establish a 

survey to establish usage and clarify further support for embedding its use. 

Simplified Standardised Processes 

A number of initiatives have been taken forward to help ensure procurement 

processes are open and transparent, based on standard approaches and use of 

common systems that appropriately minimise complexity, cost, timescales and 

requirements for suppliers. 

eProcurement Service (ePS) 

The centrally funded eProcurement Service programme ended on 31 March 2017. 

The ePS programme comprised a range of eProcurement services (electronic 

tendering, trading, payments) and change support to enable deployment of the 

technology.  Welsh public sector bodies were able to access the services and 

change support free of charge. Whilst the programme formally ended on 31 March 

2017, contracts remain in place to January 2019 up to which Welsh public sector 

bodies may continue to use the technology without charge.  

Advice is being prepared to recommended way forward after the contracts come to 

an end. 

Project Bank Accounts 

To address the issues often faced by small firms in relation to late payment, Welsh 

Government led on the introduction of Project Bank Accounts (PBA). This ensures 

fair and timely payment to sub-contractors and improves supply chain 

relationships.  

Collaboration 

The WPPS required that areas of common expenditure should be addressed 

collectively using standardised approaches and specifications managed by the 

National Procurement Service (NPS) to reduce duplication, to get the best response 

from the market, to embed the principles of this Policy Statement for the benefit of 

Wales; and to share resources and expertise.  Since its inception the NPS, alongside 

Value Wales,  has enabled progress in maximising the value of procurement in its 

Pack Page 54



broadest sense through growing the number of Welsh suppliers, in particular SMEs, 

in winning public contracts and embedding the Wales  

Procurement Policy Statement in public sector procurement in Wales.  Through the 

NPS, the Welsh public sector has access to collaborative procurement solutions 

developed and delivered in Wales for Wales.  

The Wales Audit Office (WAO) NPS report recognises the challenges faced in 

delivering collaborative procurement solutions acknowledging the great difficulty 

in meeting the needs of all organisations. It is worth reflecting that the higher 

performing areas of NPS collaborative activity are evidenced in those areas where 

organisations have specific staff with responsibilities for those areas. So 

collaborative models within energy, fleet, agency staff and ICT have generally 

delivered successful solutions and provided an environment for regular feedback 

and improvement.  

Supplier Engagement and Innovation 

The WPPS encourages dialogue with suppliers to help get the best response from 

the market place, to inform and educate suppliers, and to deliver optimum value 

for money. To support this, Welsh Government introduced the Supplier Feedback 

Service (SFS) to enable suppliers to raise concerns and provide feedback on public 

procurement in Wales. By providing a single point of contact for suppliers, public 

procurement issues can be dealt with effectively by an independent and impartial 

team (the SFS is managed by the Value Wales team which develops policy and 

capability and is independent of contracting authorities). The SFS has been 

actively promoted to business and contracting authorities. We are taking steps to 

more widely advertise the service to suppliers - for example asking authorities to 

advertise it and provide a link on their websites. 

Policy Development and Implementation 

Since the launch of the 2015 iteration of the WPPS, Welsh Government has 

supported the Welsh public sector to undertake public procurement through 

development of a range of policy initiatives which have concentrated on matters 

important to Wales.  Guidance and policy advice has been developed and published 

through Procurement Advice Notes (PANs) covering Community Benefits, Project 

Bank Accounts, Blacklisting, Code of Practice on Ethical Employment Practices in 

Supply Chains, Joint Bidding, Supporting the Sourcing of  

Steel in Major Construction and Infrastructure Projects, Umbrella Payments, 

Framework  

Pack Page 55



Agreements, Speculative Framework Agreements, Reserved Contracting, updated 

SQuID (Supplier Qualification Information Database), Revised Code of Practice on 

Workforce Matters and eProcurement Tools. 

Measurement and Impact 

A range of indicators designed to measure the impact of the WPPS and to support 

development of procurement maturity across Wales are appended to the WPPS. 

These were developed through discussion with public sector stakeholders, but for 

a variety of reasons, have not been universally adopted. 

WPPS Conclusion 

As has been outlined in this document, widespread adoption of the WPPS principles 

has had a positive impact in a number of key areas and has seen direct benefit to 

Wales. In summary:- 

Suppliers have benefited:  Simplifying procurement and ensuring contracts are 

open and accessible has meant spend with Wales-based suppliers has remained 

around 50% and in key sectors like construction, adoption of WPPS principles is 

resulting in over 70% of major contracts awarded through Sell2Wales now going to 

Welsh contractors. 

The economy and citizens of Wales have benefited: Community Benefits policy is 

helping tackle poverty in the poorest parts of Wales, ensuring money spent in 

Wales, stays in Wales and providing disadvantaged people with employment and 

training opportunities. 

Public sector stakeholders have benefited:  Value Wales has provided clear 

direction and guidance to public sector bodies to enable them to maximise positive 

outcomes from their procurement activity. Through the Procurement Fitness 

Checks coupled with financial support, public sector bodies were able to improve 

their capability and benchmark themselves against other organisations.   

Employees working on public contracts have benefited:  Policies like the Code of 

Ethical Employment, Blacklisting, Umbrella Payments have helped ensure fair the 

ethical employment down public sector supply chains. 

The NPS has commenced the production of a series of case study reports to help 

raise awareness of the provision it is making to support opportunities for small 

and medium enterprises. 

Pack Page 56



The planned ‘Programme for Procurement’ and actions that the Welsh 

Government is taking forward to review the fitness of individual public 

bodies’ procurement arrangements, to promote e-procurement 

A full Programme for Procurement will be finalised through the process of the 

review which was announced by the Cabinet Secretary for Finance in September 

2017.  In the meantime, the Welsh Government will continue to provide leadership 

and support to enable the Welsh public sector to realise the value of procurement. 

Value Wales will continue to manage the creation of policy, monitoring practice, 

supporting and advising professionals, developing the procurement profession and 

enabling compliance with EU regulations. It will deliver this work with and on 

behalf of everyone spending money on goods and services in the Welsh public 

sector (including Welsh Government and the NPS). 

An interim programme of policy and capability projects has been agreed with 

customers. This programme of work will be taken forward during the term of the 

review and in advance of the full Programme for Procurement. Projects being 

progressed include: 

− Wellbeing of Future Generations pilots (covering standardised support tools; 

food procurement; plastic and packaging; and training); 

− Decarbonisation policy and support; 

− Better Jobs pilots; 

− Circular Economy pilot; 

− Development of a new capability programme, including a new approach to 

procurement fitness checks; and 

− Developing a new definition of procurement value which delivers against 

Prosperity for All and the Economic Action Plan. 

The NPS will continue to put in place and manage contracts and frameworks for the 

common things that most organisations buy. The NPS has a pipeline of future 

activity and plans to deliver these contracts and frameworks will be delivered in 

conjunction with its 73 customer organisations in Wales. 

Value Wales will also maintain the relationship on procurement policy matters with 

UK  

Pack Page 57



Government; provide policy input into the Brexit process as it relates to 

procurement; advise Welsh Ministers on the impact of commercial and 

procurement policy; and manage corporate Welsh Government commissions. 

Issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key 

procurement capability 

There is great awareness of the value that strong procurement and commercial 

capability can deliver for organisations, both public and private. This has led to 

strong demand for expenditure which can be scarce in parts of Wales or within 

sectors. The need to explore the impact of differential pay, across different 

sectors, for procurement staff, is acknowledged in the WAO Public Procurement 

Report.  The presence of large UK Government agencies with a strong commercial 

and procurement function has increased pressure on the Welsh public sector due 

to better terms of employment being offered by UK Government.   

These issues have previously been expressed at Procurement Board as a concern 

for NHS Wales. Customers have advised that they wish to work with Welsh 

Government to develop a future procurement capability programme, through 

which an approach to considering and developing joint solutions to this 

recommendation may be progressed. 

The new Programme for Procurement includes a new Capability and Leadership 

arm dedicated to raising procurement capability and professionalism across the 

Welsh public sector.   

The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the context 

of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s recent 

statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s plans to merge 

the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board. 

There have been various levels of governance in existence for Value Wales and NPS 

in recent years. The Procurement Board has provided the most senior layer of 

governance for the implementation and delivery of public procurement policy 

across Wales, reporting directly to the Cabinet Minister with responsibility for 

Procurement.  The NPS is accountable for its performance to the member 

stakeholders through an NPS Board which provides strategic direction and to a NPS 

Delivery Group which provides operational direction.     

Governance of procurement will be reviewed as part of the work to refocus the NPS 

and Value Wales, as announced in the Written Statement issued by the Cabinet 

Secretary for Finance and Local Government on 21 September 2017. 

Pack Page 58



The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement arrangements 

through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and public buying 

organisations, with a particular focus on the role and development of the 

National Procurement Service. 

This has been covered under the ‘Collaboration’ section on page 5.  The National  

Procurement Service (NPS) established in November 2013 acts as a focus for 

procurement collaboration across the Welsh public sector securing efficiencies and 

embedding Value Wales policy within its activities. The principle is to buy once for 

Wales and its impact and success is based upon all organisations utilising it for 

common and repetitive spend categories. 

The Wales Audit Office (WAO) NPS report acknowledges the challenges faced in 

delivering collaborative procurement solutions acknowledging the great difficulty 

in meeting the needs of all organisations. It also recommends that further work 

should be put in hand to promote usage of NPS Frameworks and articulating the 

benefits, and this work is in hand. This will also include introducing a new process 

to ensure clarity regarding the opt-out process 

Views on the Auditor General for Wales’ reports on Public Procurement in 

Wales in October 2017 and the National Procurement Service in November 

2017. 

We are pleased that the Wales Audit Office recognises the importance role 

procurement plays in delivering public services for Wales.  The findings of the 

reports on Public  

Procurement in Wales and the NPS are both welcomed. The recommendations in 

both reports have been accepted; they will greatly assist in building upon progress 

to date and are very timely in respect of the repositioning of Value Wales and the 

NPS announced by the Cabinet Secretary for Finance on 21 September 2017 . Work 

is underway to address the recommendations from both reports in consultation 

with public sector stakeholders, business and social partners. For ease of reference 

copies of the WG responses issued on 6 

November 2017 and 14 December respectively are attached below:- 

 

 

Pack Page 59



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN4 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Welsh Local Government Association – Richard Dooner, Project 

manager 

https://wlga.sharepoint.com/RES/2/180110 Evidence Paper - Procurement.docx 

26/01/2018 12:55 

1. The Welsh Government’s leadership role for public procurement 

in Wales. 

i. the overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement  

There is little if any impact of the WPPS 2015; which was a light update to earlier 

policy and was considered to be a holding statement pending the development of a 

more comprehensive statement.  

The draft policy was considered to be in need of review and update.  In recognition 

of this Welsh Government has assured Local Government that  the 2015 policy 

statement temporary in nature, to be reviewed and renewed. 

Local Authorities were promised consultation on any future procurement policy. 

ii. the planned ‘Programme for Procurement.’ 

This planned programme has yet to be published. 

iii. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to review the 

fitness of individual public bodies’ procurement arrangements. 

A proper externally validated Procurement Fitness Check programme would be 

welcome as it can raise the profile of procurement within an organisation and 

highlight both what is good and what needs to improve.  

There has however been a hiatus in the Welsh Government programme and there 

have been no checks for two years.  These periodic inspections were a slimline 

version of an earlier procurement Fitness Check programme, aligned to Value 

Wales work streams; a necessary compromise between cost and utility.   

The gap in continuity during a time of major change in Public Services and Local 

Government in particular, affords the chance to re-think the approach.   

WLGA, with Heads of Procurement in Local Authorities, are in the early process of 

considering a Welsh equivalent of the measures supporting Local Governent in 

Pack Page 61

https://wlga.sharepoint.com/RES/2/180110%20Evidence%20Paper%20-%20Procurement.docx


England.  These have replaced Procurement Fitness Checks there, are available and 

LGA is willing to work with WLGA on the forward programme.  

This alternative approach to performance management is aligned to business 

outcomes.  The measure uses 31 Business Value Codes (BVCs) – things that 

mattered with defined outcomes.   

Key lessons from LGA’s early adopters are that a procurement strategy needs to be 

focused on ‘what matters’ and support actual change. A low score doesn’t signify 

that improvement is required if it is not part of the core proposition for the 

organisation.  County and Borough authorities were found to have different 

priorities and pressures and different development trajectories.  There was also an 

emerging commonality of future priorities between the regions.   

The alternative use of BVC’s in England might read across well to Wales.  The broad 

procurement pressures are common and underlying practice is similar. 

The BVC process is said to be more resource efficient than PFC’s as it is able to be 

integrated with existing business process and does not require an audit-like 

intervention.  It does however require forms of measurement that are as yet 

unfamiliar to Welsh Local Government and the prospect of measuring 31 new 

Business Value Codes is concerning given the already constrained resources of the 

Welsh procurement community. 

iv. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to promote 

eprocurement. 

Conceptual promotion is unnecessary as some form of e-procurement is in place 

with all Welsh Local Authorities, many of which were early adopters of the 

technology.  Most if not all Welsh Authorities have engaged positively with Welsh 

Governments implementation programmes and all are committed to eprocurement.   

Support for these programmes was however withdrawn by Welsh Government in 

2017 at short notice, with much work undone.  There is presently deep concern for 

the ongoing viability of e-procurement systems, their funding and their 

coordination.   

Local Authorities, as Welsh Governments partners in this enterprise, are in limbo 

pending further information on continuation of support and funding.  As a result, 

Authorities are considering their options for moving forward without Welsh 

Government involvement. 

Pack Page 62



v. Issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key 

procurement capability.  

Recruitment and retention of key procurement capability requires an infrastructure 

for procurement; which we currently do not have.   

The establishment of the National Procurement Service has had unintended 

consequences for procurement capability in Local Government; having both 

recruited scarce resource from within Authority ranks that could not be replaced, 

and then adopted methods which require a high level of input by the remaining 

staff. Some Local Authorities reduced the size of their procurement teams as a 

result of the existence of the National Procurement Service.  

Unanticipated issues with new NPS arrangements being late or unsuitable for 

application has further denuded resources in the emergency production of interim 

arrangements or continuation of legacy frameworks.  

The numbers of procurement staff in Local Government are depleted and falling.  

There is a particular shortage of experienced, senior staff able to contribute to 

Local Government reform and exploit the opportunities presented by changing 

legislation and wider environment shaping initiatives such as the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations Act. 

The lack of Value Wales support for staff currently studying is a current issue and 

one that should be tackled, along with bringing back affordable, good quality 

procurement training courses for staff in Wales. This is an area in which we have 

gone backwards in recent years. 

An unintended consequence of Value Wales’ academic programme has been to up-

qualify inexperienced junior staff, without up-skilling them in anything which is 

useable within procurement teams.  This has resulted in qualification linked pay 

increases over and above the pay of more skilful and experienced staff; affecting 

morale. This links with other broader and significant aspects such as the general 

shortage of Procurement people and the age profile of many Procurement staff – 

which the Value Wales scheme did aim to redress before it was unfortunately 

stopped. 

The ongoing business need is for a robust procurement function for Wales, that all 

Local Authorities can use, which enables Authorities to manage procurement 

opportunities and risks to deliver better front line services.   

Pack Page 63



We regret to conclude that this need is not presently being met and that much of 

the good progress made through previous initiatives has been undone.   

vi. The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the 

context of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s recent 

statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s plans to merge 

the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board.  

National Governance needs to be supportive of the needs of public service leaders 

in Wales and responsive to their priorities.  

The Welsh Government’s plans to merge these Boards seem sensible, given that 

the NPS is a strategic resource to be deployed within the environment managed by 

the National Procurement Board, along with all other resources. 

The Board requires proximity to leadership, expertise in procurement and 

expertise in working with those who deliver public services.  Its priority must be to 

be outstanding in the areas that matter most. In austerity the rest needs only to be 

good enough; the available resource should be prioritised to leaderships need. 

Procurement cannot afford to be a pedestrian, inactive, reactive, defensive activity.  

Its Board must therefore be anticipatory; to provide public services with what its 

leaders need, when they need it. The Board must therefore be agitating and 

proactive; not risk averse.  ‘Safe Fails’ must be allowed if potential opportunities 

are to be explored and exploited. 

vii. The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement 

arrangements through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and 

public buying organisations, with a particular focus on the role and 

development of the National Procurement Service.  

The National Procurement Service has generally been ineffective.  This is evidenced 

by non-use by public services and the rejection of NPS arrangements, which for 

reasons unknown have attracted higher pricing than before while reducing the pool 

of suppliers able to bid for business.  Some frameworks have acted to freeze out 

local suppliers and prevent incumbent providers from bidding.  

Overall, the organisation has had a negative impact on competition and the 

operation of competitive supply markets in Wales.  The prevailing view among 

practitioners is that the National Procurement Service has taken procurement 

backwards.  Its impact on the WPPS has been negative. 

Pack Page 64



Some of this is due to operational choices with regards to contract lotting 

strategies and resource allocation.  Tactical choices concerning the NPS have also 

led to the organisation trying to be all things to all people.  This is an impossible 

task. Instead, the organisation needs to be service driven and targeted to activities 

where national coordination has real impact.   

Establishment of the NPS meant the demise of the Welsh Purchasing Consortium 

which has left a void, not just for collaborative procurement amongst local 

authorities, but for valuable networking and information sharing amongst 

procurement leads. 

In August 2017 11 representatives of the Heads of Procurement in Local 

Government undertood a task and finish exercise to review 92 categories of 

procurement and procurement related services such as supplier engagement or 

market development activities such as identification of supply voids.  This 

collectively identified the appropriate place for Strategy, Project Management and 

Procurement Process; identifying each to a National, Regional or local approach.  

This analysis could provide the basis to identify activities where national 

coordination should focus. 

viii. Other considerations relevant to leadership of procurement in Wales - 

Social Value.  

Welsh Government has led in the development of new and innovative policies; for 

which procurement can be a powerful enabler.  This enabling cabability needs to 

be deployed in order to realise the benefits of these new policies and support 

public service reform.  

The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act is a good example. Procurement can 

contribute to this Act strategically and also by changing its operational process to 

provide the better determination of value which the Act defiines. 

WLGA officers are in the process of assessing potential applications for the Themes 

Outcomes and Measures (TOMS) tool that was launched in November 2017 in 

support of the Social Value Act in England.   The toolkit contains 5 principal issues, 

18 Outcomes and 35 Measures.   

Measure NT1 for example is for more people in local employment: No. of local 

people (FTE) employed on contract for one year or the whole duration of the 

contract, whichever is shorter.  This is measured as number of people FTE x 

£28,213 to provide a Social Value Proxy.   

Pack Page 65



Our Wellbeing of Future Generations Act goes further than the Social Value Act; 

particularly in informing pre-procurement processes such as specification of need.  

WLGA is evaluating whether the TOMS tool reads across and whether we can 

borrow with pride from the larger community of procurement practitioners outside 

Wales. There is a capability for ‘plug-ins’ to accommodate any additional 

requirements which may be relevant here. 

WLGA will be comparing the 5 principle issues for TOMS in England with those for 

procurement in Wales and examining the relevance of the outcomes and measures 

it uses to the delivery of policies here; including those of the WPPS. 

2.  The Auditor General’s Reports 

A short informal review of the Auditor General’s Report “Are Welsh public bodies 

getting value for money from procurement?” is appended.  

This includes commentary relating to the National Procurement Service as a vehicle 

operating within the wider strategic procurement environment.  Much of this 

commentary also relates directly to the questions above concerning Welsh 

Governments leadership role for public procurement.  It can be considered 

supplementary.  

It is not therefore neccessay to comment further on the second report; except to 

acknowledge its content as reflective of the experience of Local Authorities and to 

offer broad agreement with its recommendations.  

Pack Page 66



Appendix: 

1.  Review of WAO Report:  Are Welsh public bodies getting value for 

money from procurement? 

Background 

The Wales Audit Office has examined whether there is evidence that current 

procurement arrangements in Wales are helping to deliver value for money in 

public spending and are fit for the future. 

A report was released on 17th October 2017. The conclusion was that national 

governance arrangements for procurement could be strengthened and there is 

clear scope for improvement in procurement arrangements at a national and local 

level. Public bodies also face challenges in balancing potentially competing 

procurement priorities, responding to new policy, legislation and technology, and 

in the recruitment and retention of key personnel. 

Issues 

The Changing Landscape 

The WAO identified that in a changing landscape there is clear scope for 

improvement in procurement arrangements at a national and local level. 

In 2015-16, public bodies in Wales spent around £6 billion through procurement 

on a range of goods, services and works but need to improve their performance to 

ensure value for money. In a changing landscape, public bodies face challenges in 

balancing potentially competing procurement priorities, responding to new policy, 

legislation and technology, and in the recruitment and retention of key personnel. 

In August 2017 11 representatives of the Heads of Procurement in Local 

Government reviewed 92 categories of procurement and procurement related 

services such as supplier engagement or market development activities such as 

identification of supply voids.  This collectively identified the appropriate place for 

Strategy, Project Management and Procurement Process; identifying each to a 

National, Regional or local approach. 

It is intended that this strategic categorisation be used to communicate the views 

of the officer community at that particular time and place; to help frame the future 

strategy for Local Government Procurement. 

Pack Page 67



National Governance Arrangements 

The Welsh Government’s 2015 policy statement sets out the overriding principles 

for public procurement, in the context of relevant EU and UK procurement 

legislation. The WAO reported that national governance arrangements could be 

strengthened, with the national procurement board currently having limited 

effectiveness.   

There was no rationale given for why the national procurement board’s 

effectiveness was limited.  It might be assumed that national governance should be 

strengthened to overcome resistance and improve future performance. This could 

be counter productive.  The strategic choice by public service leadership was to 

make resource efficient arrangements that were suitable for local and regional 

deployment.  Performance improvement is more likely if the board was better able 

to respond to the local and regional business needs which are behind this choice.  

In a ‘pull’ relationship of this nature, the strength comes from the down stream 

partner.  If the national arrangements are suitable for purpose, they will be 

adopted with enthusiasm.   

Collaborative Scope 

WAO identified that of the £6 billion spent through procurement in 2015-16, £880 

million was identified as being spent through collaborative procurement managed 

by the three main Wales-based consortia and public buying organisations. They 

report that while these organisations are reporting financial savings and other 

benefits, public bodies have mixed views on their effectiveness.   

This illustrates the present scope of operation for consortia and public buying 

organisations; which has been determined as a strategic choice by public bodies.  

All £6 billion of expenditure is under management; not under management by the 

consortia or Public Buying Organisations, but by Local Government and integral to 

local service delivery.  The challenge is to ensure all aspects suitable for 

aggregation and procurement through a buying organisation are being channelled 

in the appropriate direction; but only those that are suitable and only when the 

organisation provides a better outcome.   

In the event of those channels proving ineffective, the tactical options are to 

improve the channel, find a better channel, or find a different way to execute the 

strategy.  It is not to drive more volume to the ineffective channel, unless volume is 

the cause of ineffectiveness. 

Pack Page 68



Scope for Improvement 

WAO highlights clear scope for improvement in procurement arrangements at a 

local level. They report that public bodies have experienced several notable 

procurement failures and WAO’s audit work continues to identify examples of 

other weaknesses. New legislation – including the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – presents new challenges and despite some 

investment by the Welsh Government, public bodies continue to have problems in 

recruiting and retaining qualified procurement personnel. Developments in 

technology present opportunities to make procurement processes more efficient 

but are not yet being used consistently. 

This is a fair criticism of a profession which was doing very well here a few years 

ago; but has since fallen back in effectiveness.  The main issue for the Local 

Government procurement community is that it has been denuded of resources.  

Alternative arrangements such as central contracting have proved not to be the 

resource releasing panacea they were expected to be.  Tactical choices at the 

centre, such as the use of mini-tenders to achieve value for money, have been a 

further drain on resourcing; as has the neccessity to make alternative provision 

when central frameworks are late or unsuitable or unusable.   

Structural changes intended to improve collective efficiency have not maintained 

the inter-personal connections that previously allowed a small cadre of 

professionals to operate as an extended team.  Instead, there has been a 

retrenchment from collaborative working to local priority and survival.  Austerity 

meansures within Local Authorities have also seen procurement specialists 

adopting other duties, diluting specialism and further denuding the resource. 

The WAO identifies that procurement leaders must be capable of fully exploiting 

new policies and new technologies. This may involve some uncomfortable truths.  

The emerging need is for people with expertise in matters which are important to 

Local Government Leadership in the proces of major change.  The procurement 

profession has some of that; but not all and not enough.  Transferrable skills and 

commercial experience should however mean that individuals are well placed to 

develop or acquire the expertise required. 

The LGA Chief Executive sponsor, Dr Martin Reeves of Coventry City Council and 

the West Midlands Combined Authority spoke about this at the LGA’s recent 

National Procurement Strategy Showcase.  He explained why leaders need 

procurement to step up.  To use the resource we have to be outstanding at what 

matters; and why, in austerity, the rest needs only to be good enough. He urged 

Pack Page 69



procurement not be pedestrian, inactive, reactive.  Instead to be agitating, 

proactive and not risk averse.  Leadership can help by supporting such activity and 

allowing scope for ‘safe fail’ in the collective drive for improvement. 

Recommendations of the WAO Report “Are Welsh public bodies getting value for 

money from procurement?” 

There are eight recommendations in the WAO report.  Among them is the 

observation that Welsh Government plans to roll out a new programme of 

Procurement Fitness Checks.  

These periodic inspections were never perfect; a necessary compromise between 

cost and utility.  There was therefore only light resistance when the old PFC 

programme was halted.  This gap in continuity during a time of major change in 

Local Governent affords the chance to re-think the approach. 

A better method would be a Welsh equivalent of the measures supporting LGA’s 

National Procurement Strategy.  Pioneered and funded by Local Governent in 

England, it is available and LGA is willing to co-work.  

This alternative approach to performance management is aligned to business 

outcomes in Local Government; rather than the Value Wales work streams.  The 

measure uses 31 Business Value Codes (BVCs) – things that mattered with defined 

outcomes.   

The LGA learned that a procurement strategy needs to be focused on ‘what 

matters’ and support actual change. A low score doesn’t signify improvement is 

required if it is not part of the core proposition. County and Borough authorities 

were found to have different priorities and pressures and different development 

trajectories.  There was also an emerging commonality of future priorities between 

the regions.  A sectoral England and Wales approach might be the way forward for 

improving the contribution of procurement to Local Authority business needs. 

Pack Page 70



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN5 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Cardiff University – Jayne Lynch 

Following reports published by the Auditor General for Wales on Public 

Procurement in Wales in October 2017 and the National Procurement Service in 

November 2017, please find observations and suggestions for going forward noted 

in this document for managing Public Procurement in Wales.  

I concur with the recommendations presented on pages 14–16 of the Wales Audit 

Report which, based on my own observations and experiences, are unquestionable 

and completely justifiable. For R2 (p.14), please refer to my suggestions at the end 

of this report.  

Major reviews like this are not new (e.g. McClelland) which in itself raises some 

fundamental questions. Wales is not a large nation and so one might argue that 

getting procurement right should not be so challenging. Yet, the deep and 

underlying issues which seem to prevent strategic procurement from being 

embedded and leveraged in Wales for achieving sustainable benefits have yet to be 

fully realised.  

Each of the areas invited for comment are now discussed:  

− The overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement  

Under the leadership of Jane Hutt AM, Public Procurement in Wales (2012–2015) 

made great strides to improve its strategic position and public bodies progressed 

in understanding how procurement can become a strategic tool for delivering 

economic benefit to the wider community in Wales. The emphasis on Community 

Benefits, the revised SQUiD and the introduction of the Joint Bidding Guide should 

have provided a solid platform to deliver sustainable value-added benefits to all in 

Wales. Whilst good practices have been observed and are publicly evident through 

flagship construction projects, there has not been a consistent enough approach 

across Wales to fully optimise procurement in making a marked difference to the 

economy. I note at this point that procurement is not viewed as a panacea to all 

national problems. The untapped potential and scope was noted in the Community 

Benefits review (2013) (not published) and Joint Bidding Lessons Learned report 

(2015) (published). In my experience of international Public Procurement practices 

and observations over the years, Wales designs some of the most innovative 

procurement policies globally, but invests little, if any, funds in their 

Pack Page 71



implementation. Today, ironically, I have received another request by email for 

advice and support; “there is some frustration amongst companies where they 

believe they are missing out on the business as it is being placed outside of Wales”.   

The Welsh Public Procurement Policy Statement (WPPPS) was last updated in 2015. 

Since then, we have experienced the EU Referendum, new procurement policies 

(Code of Practice) and several new legislations including Well-being of Future 

Generations Act (Wales) 2015; Modern Slavery Act 2015; and Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015. In Wales, we have also gone through change in Cabinet 

Secretary’s support since 2015. The Referendum has led to political uncertainty in 

Wales and the UK, which has driven a perceived barrier between society and the 

government, not just in Wales. The Referendum has triggered social unrest which 

indicates a lack of trust and confidence. All of these substantial milestone changes 

will inevitably have impacted procurement and the market environment. This is at a 

time when pre-market engagement in procurement has become essential to drive 

best value and competition for public contracts. Recent discussions (last 6 months) 

with several procurement professionals in Wales reveals that the sector is ‘waiting’ 

for new direction through the WPPPS and the unexpected absence of an update has 

created some uncertainty about strategic emphasis and direction.    

− The planned ‘Programme for Procurement’ and actions that the Welsh 

Government is taking forward 

We might first question whether “Prosperity for All” was the appropriate phrasing 

given the current economic situation in Wales. To prosper, we first need to improve 

professional opportunities for those employed. The public sector in Wales employs 

27.6% of people living in Wales which, compared to UK figures, is a much higher 

ratio than those people employed in the private sector. This means that any minor 

changes have a greater impact on the national economy. Internal promotional 

opportunities are key for driving skills and salaries up which will in turn improve 

the economic situation in Wales. Yet, Welsh Government report that median gross 

weekly earnings for full-time adults working in Wales increased by 1.0 per cent 

between 2016 and 2017, compared to a 2.2 per cent increase across the UK. 

− Fitness Checks of Public Bodies  

The methodology developed by Value Wales and deployed for producing fitness 

check reports by KPMG (2013) and PMMS (2014) enabled a snapshot view of the 

current fitness of procurement across the public bodies in Wales and these 

individual reports were published by Welsh Government. The report findings 

Pack Page 72



highlighted variation in approaches and level of professional competence across 

sectors (e.g. LA vs HE) and within sectors (e.g. HEPC). In PMMS report, key activities 

were frequently highlighted for improvement such as strategic development, action 

plan design, implementation of category management strategies, use of basic tools 

developed by Value Wales, market engagement, and value adding benefits 

recognised through effective procurement. Whilst these reports provide us with 

benchmark comparisons, they do not enable us to reflect on year on year 

improvement. This limits the analysis in terms of understanding the journey and in 

showcasing what ‘good procurement’ looks like.  

In these reports, not enough emphasis has been placed on the current lack of 

understanding about the strategic relevance of procurement in Wales. The fitness 

checks identified this issue, but the method and presentation of the final results 

somewhat masked and diluted the consistent findings, which should have been 

realised from these investigations. 

− Skills and Competences  

The Home Grown Talent project funded by WEFO provided opportunity for 25 

young professionals. Whilst the project was seen as an opportunity to grow 

procurement expertise in public sector in Wales, this did not transpire. Many of the 

candidates moved to private sector organisations, taking the government invested 

skills with them. Whilst this evidences success for the individual candidates and is 

testimony to the quality of the training provided, for Welsh Government, this loss 

of skills represented a major failure for that project. A recent ‘request for 

information’ reported that it was not known how many candidates remained in 

employment with Welsh Government. The absence of this type of data and issues 

with transparency is a sign of mismanagement and failure.  

Recruitment of skilled procurement professionals continues to be a major 

stumbling block as part of the procurement delivery plan. In many instances, 

public organisations are faced with the dilemma of employing from a small pool of 

applicants rather than employing the right person who is adequately experienced 

and qualified for the job. There seems to be a shortage of procurement 

professionals who consider public procurement in Wales as their career of choice. 

These constant shortages place even greater pressures on remaining staff and 

presents higher risk for government. Three senior procurement executives [that I 

am aware of] took early retirement in the last eighteen months and they have not 

been replaced. This does not leave the remaining procurement teams with much 

Pack Page 73



confidence about the significance of procurement in Wales and the leadership that 

it requires to constantly deliver best value when facing severe budget cuts.  

− E-Procurement Adoption across Wales  

Most public bodies now embrace the electronic tools and software available but 

there remains challenges with basic needs, such as broadband and internet access 

in some parts of Wales. This doesn’t seem to have been noted in the reports. It is 

disappointing to see that some Local Authorities still do not engage fully with 

Sell2Wales for advertising contract opportunities. This is not helped by the 

introduction of other supplier portals such as Contracts Finder and Supply2Gov. It 

is also worth noting the flexibility when engaging with these portals. For example, 

introduction of a Joint Bidding Tab (tick box) took 18 months to install.  

− Plans to Merge the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board 

Constant governance restructuring that takes place in government and at the local 

level raises serious concerns going forward. The latest being the regions and the 

public service boards (though I feel this new structure is a positive development). 

Wales is a relatively small nation compared to that of Scotland and England, which 

means that we should be better placed to deliver high impact through effective 

procurement which brings benefits quickly to the community. Our current situation 

is far from this which brings into question the executive representation for 

procurement in Wales and their influence on making change happen. We are 

fortunate to have a strong, highly motivated Commercial Director, who brings 

strategic insight and knowledge to Wales. However, one procurement leader is not 

enough to influence and build the transformational changes required to ensure 

that procurement helps to lead Wales forward. Here, I allude to the senior 

governance structure and the role of the National Procurement Board. When I 

started co-chairing the Joint Bidding Steering Group in November 2013, there was 

regular mention by members (most procurement managers) about a National 

Procurement Board. Yet, no one could name the board members or even the Chair. 

It took more than two years to gather this information and trying to understand 

their role in leading and influencing strategic procurement remains unclear. This 

lack of transparency is surely indication as to why a consistent message and list of 

strategic priorities is lacking in Wales by the people who lead and manage 

procurement of goods and services.  

Pack Page 74



− Effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement arrangements   

There are pockets of good practice identified with the collaborative arrangements 

in place for NWSSS, NPS and HEPC. Yet, over half the annual procurement spend 

still lies with Local Authorities. This demonstrates the scope for future 

collaborative agreements but importantly highlights that £3.3 billion of tax payers’ 

money is still being managed by organisations which evidence varying levels of 

competence and capability  

The focus on procurement continues to be on direct spend categories. It is 

refreshing to see that National Procurement Service (NPS) have introduced 

categories for services such as Corporate and Business Support, Information and 

Communications Technology, People, Utilities and Professional Services.  

The collaborative arrangement for managing a demands-based approach to 

procuring these services means that data analysis can be better managed. Going 

forward, this will support improved transparency and scrutiny of public money.  

The principles and strategy of NPS provide a sound platform for collaborative 

arrangements via frameworks for other public bodies to use. However, something 

not anticipated was the resistance of these public bodies to collaborate with NPS. 

Low confidence in the business model and moving to a centralised arrangement 

was considered a barrier rather than an enabler to more effective procurement. In 

my discussions with suppliers, they perceived the centralised procurement 

approach as a barrier to prompt payment when many local authorities had 

significantly improved settlement terms. Despite these concerns it must be noted 

that investment in resource capabilities through CIPS training, and best practices 

such as category management and pre-market engagement have been exemplary. 

My involvement has mainly been with supporting the pre-market engagement. 

These events have been well attended by suppliers and information shared by 

procurement teams is fair and consistent, but the procurement pipeline needs 

more careful consideration to allow sufficient time for suppliers to prepare bids, 

especially when joint bids are invited. The current adhoc approach only leads to 

further frustrations by suppliers and alienates them from future opportunities. 

Going forward we must harness the good work, improve capability and use it as a 

benchmark for future success.  

Pack Page 75



Recommendations  

Going forward, the following suggestions are offered for improving the current 

standing for public procurement in Wales:  

− Developing a competitive nation  

The goals and essential ways of working highlighted in the Well Being of Future 

Generations Act (Wales) 2015 should be more fully utilised to provide the 

leadership and direction for Public Procurement in Wales. This legislation is not 

only important for Wales, but it feeds into the United Nations’ Sustainable 

Development Goals. We operate in an uncertain political climate and the outcome 

of Brexit remains unclear. Any changes that are made now should reflect Wales as 

part of a global economy and not just a member of the EU. That means that 

individuals and procurement teams should be upskilled to coordinate relevant 

support for suppliers and be able to recognise areas for improvement. Investment 

in skills to support the five essential ways of working will bring wider benefits to 

Wales. There are resources available to support this, e.g. ISO 20400:2017 

Sustainable Procurement. Important skills to support the five ways of working 

include; communication, business strategy, innovation, risk management and 

collaboration. The procurement professional needs to have an enquiring mind to 

challenge current processes, drive innovation, encourage collaboration both inside 

the organisation and outside.  

− Integration 

In Wales, finance, procurement and economics need to be more closely integrated 

as critical to the future of Welsh economy. The notion of departmental silos has 

been an ongoing issue (not just in Wales and not an issue limited to public sector) 

and noted in the Cabinet Secretary’s title: Minister for Finance. The Minister [for 

Finance] also oversees procurement (National Procurement Service and Value 

Wales) and the responsibility extends to many other procurement related activities: 

Strategic Investment; Value for money and effectiveness; Provision of strategic 

direction and management of the resources of the Welsh Government; City Deals; 

Invest to Save; WBFG and liaison with FG Commissioner; Acquisition, maintenance 

and disposal of property and other assets.  

For Wales to more fully realise the strategic socio-economic impact that can be 

achieved through procurement, it is important for procurement professionals to 

coordinate with businesses in Wales, improve its engagement with third sector 

Pack Page 76



organisations, to understand entrepreneurial activity and skills development and 

shortages in Wales. This helps procurement teams to recognise supply chain voids 

and better understand the competitive landscape in Wales when designing tenders. 

Closer collaboration with the supply market will lead to wider sustainable benefits 

and improved value for money. Development of these areas currently fall under the 

Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Transport, i.e. Support and advice to assist the 

establishment, growth or development of business; Entrepreneurship, enterprise 

and business information; Social Enterprise and the social economy; Simplification 

and integration of business skills and business development services.  

− Governance 

Driving sustainable change starts at the top. The National Procurement Board 

should be reviewed, in terms of its membership and strategic direction, influence 

and scrutiny. Simply merging it with NPS board may bring more issues later on.  

Wales would benefit from a centralised procurement structure which is strategically 

supported by all. This not only leads to more efficient use of public money, it leads 

to tighter control, easier performance management. All of these benefits lead to 

reduced risk. Collaborative arrangements are important for innovation and 

efficiency gains but there is no evidence of a consistent framework for managing 

these partnerships. The International Standard (ISO 44001:2017 Collaborative 

Business Relationships) provides a framework and structured approach which 

focuses on the alignment of goals, objectives and working together. This would 

also allow for better management and for public scrutiny. A centralised approach is 

not without challenges: e.g. skills and resistance to change. A higher skilled 

workforce, which has already been identified in this report, is in shortfall and so 

more investigation and investment is required to overcome this. Managing change 

is a development area for skills improvement.  

− Data Integrity 

This must be a key priority going forward with General Data Protection Regulation 

(GDPR) coming into effect 25th May 2018. Using a structured approach for 

managing governance and investing in technological skills and competences will 

make auditing more manageable. This applies not just to procurement but also the 

suppliers being contracted in.  

Pack Page 77



− Investment 

Welsh Government has previously secured WEFO funds to invest in professional 

development at the entry and management levels in procurement, and this report 

emphasises that future investment needs to continue but that it should be further 

matched with investment at the top, at the strategic and national levels. 

Importantly, any future investment also needs to be managed. There needs to be 

clear, well communicated targets and critical evaluations built in as part of the 

process.  

− Measuring what matters 

The existing collaborative arrangements such as National Procurement Service may 

be failing in terms of meeting their original objectives, but the criticisms are 

overlooking what has been achieved successfully, and the reviews do not tackle the 

root causes of the issues preventing their effectiveness. The greatest challenge and 

barrier for NPS and other collaborative arrangements has been that by transferring 

business to these arrangements, there is a perceived loss of skills and control held 

at the local level. As noted previously, managing the change, making the objectives 

clear and communicating the benefits are critical for future success.  

− Sharing Good Practice 

There is no doubt that the reviews and fitness checks have identified serious 

shortcomings, but they have also identified areas of good practice. These 

exemplary cases should be better captured, and examples of best practice 

disseminated to inspire and motivate others. This can be achieved through 

newsletters, reward mechanisms and showcasing events. The Procurex Awards 

have gone some way to support this but there was a noticeable drop off in 

submissions by Local Authorities this year.  

Finally, a key issue which has been highlighted with the recent collapse of Carillion 

brings other new challenges to the management of procurement in Wales. An 

investigation is required into the management of major contracts, especially in 

preparation for the major infrastructure projects forthcoming. This again 

highlights the need for greater interdependence and communication between 

procurement, finance and economics. Using the words of David Watt, IoD Scotland, 

“Procurement needs to move away from large contracts that favour very large 

contractors. Smaller-sized contracts under improved public sector management 

offers the best way forward.” 

Pack Page 78



 

Pack Page 79



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 PTN6 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Higher Education Purchasing Consortium, Wales (HEPCW) 

The Higher Education (HE) Sector is grateful to the Chair of the Public Accounts 

Committee for inviting comments in respect of the Auditor General’s Report and in 

particular to the areas highlighted in the correspondence dated 19th December 

2017. 

The following comments are those of the Higher Education Purchasing Consortium, 

Wales (HEPCW) and its members. Other HE Sector stakeholders may have different 

views.  

Q1.The Welsh Government’s leadership role for public procurement in Wales 

including, for example: 

- the overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement  

HEPCW welcomes the leadership role for public procurement in Wales that Welsh 

Government performs. HEPCW members support the principles that have been and 

continue to be developed to ensure that value for money is obtained and 

procurement is conducted professionally and on an ethical and sustainable basis.  

The majority of the themes and practices identified in the 2015 policy statement 

have been adopted by HE institutions in Wales, although the extent will vary 

amongst institutions dependent upon the available resources. In some instances, 

the spirit of the Policy Statement will be adopted as opposed to strict compliance 

with the Policy Statement wording. As an example, the use of the Community 

Benefits Tool has not been widely used, however all institutions that have identified 

Community Benefits as part of the project business case are actively reporting the 

benefits delivered, albeit via different reporting regimes.   

- the planned ‘Programme for Procurement’ and actions that the Welsh 

Government is taking forward to review the fitness of individual public bodies’ 

procurement arrangements, to promote eprocurement  

A key area of the Policy Statement was the need for a programme of regular 

assessment through which public sector organisations can measure their 

respective procurement maturity. The HE Sector has completed an initial round of 

assessment and all institutions are currently implementing action plans to address 

the recommendations within each institutional report. HEPCW and its members 

Pack Page 80



recognise the benefits that the Procurement Fitness Checks (PFC) can facilitate, and 

would wish to see continued central funding for the PFC programme.  

Each institution is currently at varying stages of deployment of e-procurement 

tools but there is a continuing increase in the uptake of the range of e-tools. The 

institutions are predominantly utilising e-tools made available through the  Value 

Wales e-Procurement Service The HEPCW institutions recognise the criticality of 

detailed expenditure information to all forms of collaborative procurement. The 

HEPCW members have recently agreed in principle to fully adopting the same 

expenditure data solution as used by NPS (‘Atamis’), with the intention of 

enhancing the level of information available to the sector and making this data 

easily available to NPS.   

HEPCW therefore hopes that Welsh Government will continue to support the 

provision of a data analysis solution such as Atamis.  

- issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key procurement 

capability.  

Recruitment and retention of procurement capability has been and is likely to 

continue to be challenging in the current financial and student recruitment 

environment.   

Institutions are competing with other bodies both within the public and private 

sector for scarce professional procurement resources. Strict remuneration schemes 

and reduced opportunities for permanent positions present further challenges. It is 

therefore vital that institutions can be in a position to offer opportunities that 

provide stimulating roles with opportunities for professional and personal 

development at competitive salaries and succession planning. Overly bureaucratic 

processes and increasing amount of policy considerations need to be balanced to 

ensure that capability remains committed and enthusiastic.  

In recent years, Value Wales has provided access to a subsidised procurement 

training programme and procurement trainee talent pool. Both of these were 

beneficial to the HE Institutional Procurement functions and the re-introduction of 

these initiatives would be very beneficial to the Welsh public sector.   

HEPCW’s view is that Value Wales should be supporting the sectors in developing 

appropriate training to support the delivery of key aspects of Welsh Government 

policy. As an example, the assessment of supply chains to identify instances of 

Pack Page 81



unethical practice is complex and challenging. It is unlikely that many procurement 

professional feel adequately equipped to undertake this role. 

Q2. The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the 

context of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s recent 

statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s plans to merge 

the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board.  

HEPCW’s views are that national governance arrangements have to some extent 

been successful but in other aspects has failed to achieve the objectives. From the 

HEPCW perspective, the Terms of Reference of the respective forums are such that 

a HE Sector representative is unable to perform the role to its fullest extent. Due to 

the nature of the HE Sector, with all of the institutions being autonomous bodies, 

there is no one individual who can commit the sector to a course of action. If other 

sector representatives are in a similar position then the respective forum will face 

challenges in delivering its objectives.  

In particular with the NPS Board, HEPCW believes that its role is not that of a 

functional board but more of an advisory group, which diminishes the potential for 

scrutiny and endorsement of the NPS activity from senior external stakeholders.   

It is also HEPCW’s experience that the sector representatives on the Procurement 

Board and NPS Board in many cases were the same person. Previously NPS business 

has also been prominent on the Procurement Board agenda, and this has led to a 

degree of duplication.  

HEPCW is also of the view that whilst the Wales Procurement Policy establish an 

environment for good practice procurement, it should be recognised that there 

may be other pressing factors (STEEPLE) that can have significant influence on 

procurement decisions. 

 

Q3. The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement 

arrangements through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and 

public buying organisations, with a particular focus on the role and 

development of the National Procurement Service.  

HEPCW is one of 6 regional procurement consortia that support the UK HE Sector, 

Along with 2 other specialist category consortia for catering/food and energy. All 

of the higher education consortia participate in the management and delivery of a 

UK-wide collaborative contracting portfolio which provides access to over 100 

Pack Page 82



commercially effective collaborative framework agreements across a range of 

category areas.   

Consortia collaboration within the HE Sector is mature and robust, and enables 

HEPCW members to benefit from sector-specific contracting arrangements based 

on the aggregated leverage of the UK HE Sector.  

As noted by the Wales Audit Office review, HEPCW member institutions have 

reported that HEPCW provides a satisfactory service.  

From the inception of the National Procurement Service, HE institutions signed up 

to supporting the NPS on the basis that they were unable to commit to using NPS 

Agreements. This was due to a number of reasons, including:  

- the HE sector has in place a mature, effective and very extensive collaborative 

contracting portfolio covering all key expenditure commodities, all developed 

specifically by and for the UK HE sector. This contracting portfolio is let and 

managed through a concept of ‘mutual contribution and benefit’ i.e. the regional 

consortia and their member institutions all contribute to the development and 

management of the overall contract portfolio.  

HEPCW manages a number of national Framework Agreements on behalf of the    

sector and believes that it is appropriate to continue to provide this contribution to 

the sector’s procurement solutions.  

- in many instances there are greater synergies with the UK HE Sector than with 

other public sector bodies in Wales.  

- HEPCW members will require access to collaborative agreements in categories 

that are not managed by NPS. Specific category expertise is available in the HE 

Sector.  

- The sector did not support mandating the use of specific framework agreements, 

as this decision would be left to the discretion of each institution. HEPCW 

members’ view is that the adoption of any agreements should be based on 

identifying and adopting the framework that provides the best commercial and 

operational benefit to the institution in question as opposed to its use being 

mandated, irrespective of whether other agreements can offer better value.  

Pack Page 83



It should be noted that the NPS has understood and accepted the position 

regarding HEPCW members and the benefits accrued from their active contribution 

to and benefit obtained from the UK HE collaborative arrangements.   

HEPCW has been and remains appreciative of the pragmatic NPS approach to the 

sector’s broader strategic alignment, and believe this approach should remain 

unchanged.  

As a consequence of the manner in which the UK HE sector collaborates on its 

approach to procurement, HEPCW members are far less dependent on the NPS 

arrangements than other sectors that no longer are supported by sector specific 

consortia within Wales.  

In terms of the role and development of the NPS, HEPCW’s view is that change is 

required if NPS is to be successful, and that lessons learned from the last 4 years 

are actioned. Some areas for further consideration include:  

- Is the original business case still valid?  

- Is the funding model appropriate?  

- Is the NPS portfolio too broad and is it covering commodities that are not 

strategic, critical or indeed relevant to those sectors with the highest expenditure.   

- NPS should ensure its frameworks are focussed, competitive and delivered with 

clear, concise routes for buying organisations to call-off from – HEPCW firmly 

believes that increased uptake of NPS frameworks would be easily achieved if NPS 

frameworks were clearly competitive, relevant and easy to access.  

- Clarifying the role of NPS – is it part of Welsh Government or an independent 

central purchasing body (the lines are possibly blurred due to the dual 

responsibilities of the NPS Director).  

- Are the respective roles and NPS and Value Wales clear, with well defined 

strategies and objectives?  

- What is the most appropriate means of collaboration e.g. is the All-Wales, cross-

sector approach always preferable?  

Pack Page 84



It is also HEPCW’s view that NPS can have an important role in supporting its 

members implement aspects of the Code of Practice: Ethical Employment in Supply 

Chains. 

 

Pack Page 85



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 86

Agenda Item 5 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 P1 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Thank you for your recent correspondence and invitations to attend the Public 

Accounts Committee on 5th February 2018. As requested, please find below 

response from Caerphilly County Borough Council (‘Caerphilly’). 

The Welsh Government’s leadership role for public 

procurement in Wales including, for example: 

− The overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement:  

There is little if any impact of the Wales Procurement Policy 2015. The main 

impact came from the 2012 Policy Statement. At the time of publication the 

2015 statement was considered a holding statement which required a 

comprehensive review due to the lack of consultation and key policies which 

would impact Strategic Procurement. At the time of publication Local 

Government was promised a full review following full consultation. There has 

been no review or consultation since 2015. 

It is felt that the current statement lacks innovation and is impractical in parts. 

This is a key policy for Procurement in Wales which should set the tone and 

direction of travel for Public Sector Organisations, the Procurement Professional 

and Welsh Supply Chain. 

Going forward the new policy statement needs to adequately reflect key policy 

documents such as the Wellbeing and Future Generation Act, Social Services and 

Well being Act and Ethical Employment (Code of Practice). Any future Policy 

Statement needs to be evolving with periodic updates. We are currently in a 

period of change due to digitalization, Brexit and uncertain financial markets 

therefore a static policy will hinder progress rather than nurture it. 

− The planned ‘Programme for Procurement: 

This planned programme has yet to be published. To date there has been 

limited consultation on the programme. Again, this is a key document for the 

future of Procurement within Wales and the Welsh Supply Chain. 

It is vital that the programme is structured to drive innovation, facilitate 

improvements whilst encouraging better dialogue and flexibility with our Supply 

chains. It should assist in the reduction of supply voids within Wales as well as 

fostering organic growth with current providers. 

Pack Page 123



The programme needs to address key policies such as Wellbeing and Future 

Generation Act, Social Services and Well being Act and Ethical Employment 

(Code of Practice) 

− Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to review the fitness 

of individual public bodies. 

The principles of the Welsh Government (‘WG’) Procurement fitness check were 

well intended however; due to the inconsistent approach taken by the review 

process they lost their credibility. It appeared that there was limited thought to 

what would happen at the end of the fitness check process and no plans for 

future development irrespective of organisation outcome.  

At best the process has brought individual benchmarks for organisations; 

however, the real benefits were lost. The possibilities for collaboration, sharing 

of best practice and innovation were never capitalized. This was a lost 

opportunity for the Welsh Public Sector. 

I am not aware of plans to repeat the process however if they were to be 

recreated then an alternative method of assessment should be considered with 

a clear object of “next steps” following the review. The WG needs to be clear on 

the desired outcomes for such reviews such as continuous development of the 

procurement activity in Wales to bring about, best value which support, Social 

Value, Value for Money and Regeneration (just to mention a few) 

− e-procurement 

Welsh Government (‘WG’)invested large amounts of money on the development 

and implementation of e-procurement. The take up as been inconsistent and 

frustratingly slow in some organisations. WG provided various funding 

opportunities to facilitate change however; individual institutions have failed to 

capitalize on the support. Caerphilly was the first local authority in Wales to 

embrace end to end eprocurement and adopt the WG electronic market place. 

Caerphilly currently operates the WG electronic market place but all other 

elements of e-procurement are separate to the WG offering due to the 

integrated nature of our IT systems. Caerphilly has a mature eprocurement 

system which is business critical. It is vital that WG provides clear guidance 

going forward on the funding of the WG Market place as loss of this element will 

be detrimental to the Public Sector business operations and our Supply Chains. 

Unlike many organisations Caerphilly has funded the development of 

eProcurement locally (apart from the Marketplace) this was due to the restrictive 

Pack Page 124



rules on systems use imposed by WG. Going forward any funding should 

equitable to all irrespective of System provider. 

− Issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key 

procurement capability. 

There needs to be a fresh approach to recruitment and retention of key 

procurement personnel. In recent years due to large budget cuts local 

authorities have seen a diminishing resource in relation to the procurement 

professional. Procurement is a vital element of any business. If Wales is to 

succeed in building for the future we need a programme of investment in a 

modern procurement professional. We require a more commercial awareness, a 

strategic approach with continued professional development. 

In recent years Local Government have recruited and invested in good 

professionals however, the retention has been difficult with many moving on to 

new opportunities outside of Wales. 

During the development of the NPS a limited amount of experienced Welsh 

procurement Officers were offered roles in the new organisation which 

suggested limited opportunities in Procurement in Wales. This had a 

detrimental impact on Welsh Procurement and also the impact and success of 

the NPS. 

− The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the 

context of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s 

recent statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s 

plans to merge the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board. 

This is positive move, however, procurement will require strategic 

representation. If we are to encourage the procurement professional outlined 

above they need to be represented and understood at the highest level. We 

need board members who are senior procurement professionals who 

understand how procurement can impact the change management agenda and 

bring Social Value. 

− The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement 

arrangements through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and 

public buying organisations, with a particular focus on the role and 

development of the National Procurement Service. 

The effectiveness and impact of the NPS for Caerphilly has been limited. 

Caerphilly took the decision to opt out of the NPS at the consultation stage of 

establishing the NPS. Caerphilly now makes the decision to opt in at the time of 

Pack Page 125



expenditure thus keeping a more flexible approach to procurement options. 

Caerphilly has a clear agenda to develop a high level of social and economic 

regeneration via its third party spend therefore it was concluded to complete a 

blanket opt in to the NPS would have disadvantaged local businesses. 

We have had a mixed experience from current NPS frameworks ranging from 

good to very poor. In general we find arrangements are not fit for purpose and 

do not support the local supply chain in line with Caerphilly’s strategy. 

It must be acknowledged that it is very difficult to achieve “local” provision 

when you are buying “once for Wales” which is why the choice of Categories 

which can be delivered “once for Wales” is very important. I would like to see a 

difference approach and emphasise of the NPS which considers what will make 

the most impact and deliver the most benefits (cost and social) in procuring via 

a national arrangement. I also feel that the NPS requires an arm of business that 

can support National projects such as construction and infrastructure. 

We do not use any other Welsh consortia, however, we do use National 

consortia when they are beneficial to Caerphilly and meet’s our strategy. 

General Comment: 

In general Procurement in Wales has stagnated of late. It is an evolving discipline 

that requires energy and enthusiasm to succeed. As we have shown over the years 

that Procurement plays a vital role in our business operations and have the ability 

to “change lives” if implemented effectively. 

The procurement function cannot diminish. We need a focused plan for the future 

which is wider in scope than “efficiency savings”. 

We need to build on our previous success by working together, embracing 

collaboration in many forms and acknowledging that one size does not fit all. 

Digitalization, social media, Brexit and financial market will all bring their 

challenges and opportunities. Procurement is not the solution it is part of the 

enabling tools required to bring business success. 

Pack Page 126



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 P2 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Cardiff Council - Steve Robinson, Head of Commissioning and 

Procurement 

Thank you for your recent correspondence and invitation to attend the Public 

Accounts Committee on 5th February 2018.  As requested please find below 

response from Cardiff Council: 

1. The Welsh Government’s leadership role for public procurement in Wales 

i. The overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement;  

The Wales Procurement Policy Statement (WPPS) 2015 predominantly 

captures approaches developed and adopted by the public sector in Wales 

over a number of years.  The Statement provides a useful framework for 

guiding the development of procurement functions across Wales.  The 

principles set out within the Statement are reflected in the Council’s own 

Procurement Strategy (2017-2020) and our new Socially Responsible 

Procurement Policy.  

The challenge for the Welsh Government is how they can best support the 

implementation of the Statement principles across Wales, without resorting 

to issuing statutory guidance.  The Council remains committed to 

implementing the principles of the statement in a proportionate manner and 

welcomes that fact that they are not statutory.   

A key challenge is the reduction of resources in corresponding level of 

support available from Value Wales and this will need to be addressed if 

public sector across Wales is to consistently apply the Principles. The Fitness 

Checks can play a role in drawing focus to the adoption of good practice but 

support will be needed especially for those organisations with limited 

procurement capacity.  

ii. The planned ‘Programme for Procurement’: 

Although the Programme for Procurement was shared in high-level terms at 

an NPS Delivery Group, my understanding is that this has been put on hold 

until the conclusion of the NPS / Value Wales review. There has been limited 

opportunity to input to discussions on direction so I await future 

opportunity. 

Pack Page 127



iii. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to review the fitness of 

individual public bodies’ procurement arrangements 

Although the Fitness Check programme had some weaknesses, on balance 

we found the process reflected the level of maturity within Cardiff and was 

useful to support our ongoing development. Cardiff Council found the 

fitness check process to be thorough and robust, with senior staff across the 

Council interviewed, significant documentation provided, and over 35 people 

completed the accompanying survey.  As a result of the Fitness Check we 

were successful in receiving some funding from WG to undertake a review of 

our contract management arrangements across the organisation and this is 

informing part of our current improvement programme. We do feel however, 

that the results of the Fitness Check could have been used to better share 

best practice across the public sector in Wales.  

We would be supportive of continuing to use fitness checks in the current 

format with self-assessment for the ‘developing towards advanced 

authorities’ coupled to some form of peer review /support.  The continuation 

of the current fitness check process will enable organisations to benchmark 

their own performance. This would allow time for a more considered review 

of the alternative models and their relevance to Wales, including the LGA 

(England) Fitness Check, which is being championed by the WLGA. 

iv. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to promote e-

procurement. 

We welcome the investment and commitment shown by WG in promoting e-

procurement. Sell2Wales has been a big success but adoption of other 

solutions and the recognition of existing investment by public sector 

organisations less so. Cardiff has invested significant resources in training 

staff to utilise PROACTIS our e-sourcing tool to run tendering processes.  

However, despite multiple requests from Cardiff and other PROACTIS users 

in Wales there has been reluctance to link Sell2Wales to PROACTIS, to enable 

seamless advertising of opportunities to the market.  Integration between 

Sell2Wales and SQuID questions also needs to be improved. 

WG and public sector organisations have also invested considerable 

resources in driving forward the Bassware marketplace to allow improved 

Business2Business (B2B) transacting. However, this has been with limited 

Pack Page 128



success in Cardiff mainly due to a reluctance by suppliers, which in part is a 

result of limited take up by other public sector organisations.  

v. Issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key 

procurement capability. 

Generally, across Wales we have seen a loss of experienced procurement 

professionals from the public sector for a number of reasons including 

budgetary cuts and age profiles of senior managers.  Due to the limited 

number of procurement professionals available, we have to accept we have a 

competitive local market in South Wales particularly with the establishment 

of the NPS and presence of Crown Commercial Services (CCS).  

In Cardiff we have responded to this by looking for ways to retain posts and 

to identify and nurture new talent.  

− Retain Posts – Facing budget cuts the Commissioning and Procurement 

service in Cardiff has established a Local Authority Trading Company 

(LATC) Atebion Solutions Ltd for the trading procurement and 

commercial services. This has allowed us to maintain current staffing 

levels and to plan future growth. It has also proved to be an attractive 

opportunity to potential applicants for posts.   

− Nurture New Talent - In 2013 we secured funding to establish our own 

annual student placement programme, working closely with the 

University of South Wales, normally taking one to three university 

students who are studying procurement for a one-year 

placement.   Although this requires an initial investment of staff time in 

developing the student(s) in the early months, three of these students 

have now secured permanent jobs within the Commissioning and 

Procurement Team.  All staff receive ongoing training and support to 

enable them to become CIPS qualified; they get both the theory and 

varied practical experience. 

Appendix 1 - Rewriting the Public Procurement Playbook is an article 

drafted for Bangor University and provides additional information on 

commissioning and procurement in Cardiff, the establishment of Atebion 

Solutions and the strategy for developing and nurturing staff. 

Pack Page 129



2. The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the 

context of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s 

recent statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s plans 

to merge the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board. 

We are supportive of the change proposed but feel that there needs to be 

greater representation from senior procurement professionals. It is also 

important the role of Value Wales is redefined and resourced adequately if it is 

going to be effective in supporting the adoption of good and consistent 

procurement practice across the public sector in Wales. 

3. The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement arrangements 

through the main Wales-based procurement consortia and public buying 

organisations, with a particular focus on the role and development of the 

National Procurement Service. 

The introduction of the NPS has not brought any additional value to Cardiff 

Council, over and above that provided by the previous arrangements provided 

by the Welsh Purchasing Consortium (WPC) and Value Wales collaborative 

sourcing team. In fact the introduction of the NPS has in some organisations 

contributed to loss of posts resulted in a diminishing role and influence for 

some Procurement Teams.  This is compounded by the loss of the WPC which 

provided a forum and structure that facilitated joint working, knowledge 

sharing and informal mentoring/network arrangements.  As local authorities we 

need to explore how we can fill this undoubted void and ensure that knowledge 

is shared across the Welsh public sector and collaborative opportunities taken.   

  

Pack Page 130

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2017/repositioningnpsandvaluewales/?lang=en


Appendix 1 - Rewriting the Public Procurement Playbook 

2017 Conference Article for Bangor University 

Steve Robinson ACMA, MSc, MCIPS – Head of Commissioning and Procurement, 

Cardiff Council and Managing Director of Atebion Solutions Ltd. 

The well documented and seemingly incessant budgetary pressure squeezing the 

UK public sector tends to be top of every public sector manager’s priority list.  

Most organisations recognise that effectively managed procurement can be key to 

delivering savings and greater value. However, if you talk to anybody working in UK 

public sector procurement some other common themes and challenges will very 

quickly emerge. 

Most public sector organisations are experiencing a loss of experienced 

procurement staff who are not being replaced.  This means that Procurement 

Teams are juggling ever increasing pressures and expectations from both their 

own organisations, and national policy makers, to not only deliver efficiency 

savings, but to deliver a wider range of policy objectives including community 

benefits / social value, as well as ensuring compliance EU Procurement Directives. 

If all this sound too familiar, then this short article provides a quick snapshot of 

how the City of Cardiff Council’s Procurement Team has responded to these 

competing pressures. 

In 2011 the Council strengthened the capability and capacity of corporate 

procurement resources through the creation of a new corporate Procurement 

Team.  The Team developed, and successfully implemented, a category 

management approach across all of the Council’s third-party spend, including 

traditionally hard to reach areas such as social care.  The approach delivered and 

continues to deliver significant savings.  The structure of the Team has enabled the 

Council to develop and ‘grow’ its own procurement staff by investing in training 

and mentoring to support staff development.    This was both an investment in the 

future and a recognition of the difficulties of recruiting suitably qualified and 

experienced staff in a competitive local market.   This strategy has enabled staff to 

progress their careers within the Team, with their achievements being recognised 

through the Procurement Team winning a number of Procurement Awards. 

In 2014/15 in response to the Council’s latest difficult budget settlement the 

Procurement team was given a three-year savings target which would equate to a 

reduction of eight to twelve posts.  However, in line with the McClelland Report on 

Pack Page 131



Welsh public procurement, the Council sought to buck the recent trend in Wales by 

recognising the importance of retaining the expertise. It was recognised that a new 

approach would therefore be required if the Council was to retain access to skilled 

and knowledgeable procurement staff within the proposed budget. 

The approach was to create one of the first Local Authority Trading Company in 

Wales, Atebion Solutions Ltd, to deliver procurement and commercial services to 

both the private and public sectors across the UK.  Although the budgetary 

challenge was the catalyst to developing a new procurement approach the level of 

support from Councillors and senior managers means that the level of ambition for 

the company has increased and is seen as a way of not only retaining staff but 

building the breadth of expertise and knowledge by recruiting additional staff. This 

includes establishing a graduate programme which will allow the Council to 

continue to ‘grow’ its own staff for the future.  We believe that new opportunities 

exist in public sector procurement as organisations increasing focus on their key in 

house procurement competencies and look to bring in specialist procurement 

expertise as required to maximise their diminishing resources.  Atebion Solutions 

hit the ground running in the summer of 2016 and is already providing a range of 

service to five English and Welsh local authorities.  It continues to be a steep 

learning curve but Atebion Solutions has already exceeded its income target for 

year 1 and staff are thriving in this new environment. 

All organisations are at a different place on their procurement journey but from 

our experiences there some general lessons and things that we think are key 

ingredients for procurement success.  It’s really not rocket science but our tips for 

success are to: 

1. Get Executive support and ownership – demonstrate the added value to the 

organisation by having an effective procurement team 

2. Get a seat at the top table for procurement 

3. Be explicit around the role of procurement in delivering significant 

organisational savings – identify the opportunities and make the business 

case 

4. Ensure that any savings belong and are owned by Directorates 

5. Maximise the use of technology and smarter sourcing tools 

Pack Page 132



6. Ensure that there is accurate spend data 

7. Build trust by delivering on what was promised – deliver the savings 

8. Establish robust governance and project management arrangements 

9. Get early engagement with Directorates and ensure that this is maintained 

throughout the procurement process 

10. Establish cross functional teams which the right technical and competence 

skills 

11. Undertake a Procurement Fitness check 

12. Collaborate with partners where it delivers clear procurement benefits and 

savings resulting from aggregation, consistency, reliability of contractors, 

ease of use and stability for users 

13. Ensure that you have knowledgeable / skilled procurement staff and that 

you invest in their training and development 

14. Don’t rest on your laurels continue to look to learn from others 

15. Bring in expertise where the skills don’t currently exist in house 

Pack Page 133



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 P3 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement 

Evidence from Denbighshire County Council – Arwel Staples, Strategic Procurement 

Business Partner 

 

Thank you for your recent correspondence and invitation to attend the Public 

Accounts Committee on 5th February 2018.  As requested please find below a 

response from Denbighshire County Council (“Council”) against the areas you have 

highlighted. 

1. The Welsh Government’s leadership role for public procurement in Wales 

i. The overall impact of the 2015 procurement policy statement;  

The Wales Procurement Policy Statement (WPPS) 2015 has provided a set of 

useful principles for the Welsh public sector in the development of their 

procurement function. The Council has incorporated the statement principles 

within our new Corporate Procurement Strategy. 

However, the practical implementation of the policy principles still remains 

very challenging especially within a devolved procurement environment 

whereby the Council has a small Corporate Procurement Team of 10 staff in 

the centre which is trying to influence and take forward procurement 

improvements across multiple service areas which consists of up to 150 

service officers who undertake procurement activities on a daily basis.  

It is felt that there are elements of the policy statement which are impractical 

to deliver. For example: 

Professionally resourced: - Procurement expenditure should be subject to an 

appropriate level of professional involvement and influence, adopting the 

initial benchmark of a minimum of one procurement professional per £10m 

of expenditure 

 Based on this benchmark the Council would need to recruit an additional 5 

Procurement professionals at the cost of £300,000, which in the current 

climate of reduced budget funding would not be achievable or affordable. 

Although many of the other policy principles have been welcomed and 

adopted in reality the other main challenge is for the Welsh Government in 

how best can they support the implementation of the statement principles 

across Wales.  

Pack Page 134

Agenda Item 6



Over the last few years there has been a gradual reduction of support 

available from Value Wales to support individual public sector organisations 

in implementing the policy statement and this is especially an issue for such 

Welsh public sector organisations which have limited procurement capacity. 

Due to the reduction of Value Wales resources over the years there is a stark 

difference in the quality and depth of on-line procurement support available 

in Wales in comparison to what is being provided by the Scottish Executive 

on procurement matters in Scotland. 

The Scottish Executive website has a wealth of procurement guidance and 

policy notifications available on a numerous topics e.g. Construction, Social 

Care etc.  The Policy notes are very clear, concise and contains the 

appropriate legal advice and sample contractual clauses and tender 

questions. The Procurement Route Planner website provided from the Welsh 

Government on the other hand has not been regularly updated and refreshed 

and the content is considered inferior in comparison to Scotland. 

Additionally, we have seen a number of procurement policies being launched 

by Welsh Government, for example the  recent Code of Practice on Ethical 

Employment in Supply Chains, whereby there has been very limited prior 

consultation with procurement practitioners in developing the policy, which 

has resulted in individual organisations having practical difficulties in  being 

able to implement.  

ii. The planned ‘Programme for Procurement’: 

Although the Programme for Procurement has been shared in high-level 

terms at an NPS Delivery Group, to date there has been limited wider 

consultation on the programme content and we are under the impression 

that the programme development has been put on hold until the internal 

review of the National Procurement Service and Value Wales has been 

completed. 

The new Programme for Procurement needs to take Welsh public sector 

procurement to the next level and must be seen as something fresh , 

innovative and will make a difference in comparison to what has been 

promoted in the past. Therefore, there needs to be lessons learnt that  

practical hands on support for individual organisations is required to 

improve their procurement practices rather than policy and initiative 

overload being launched from central government. 

Pack Page 135



The new Programme will need to address a number of key improvement 

areas such as: 

 Category Management 

 Contract Management 

 E-Procurement 

 Procurement Training Framework 

 Procurement Policy especially in relation to Community Benefits best 

practice and also promoting Local Supplier Development 

 Develop a Target Operating Model on how future organisational 

structure of Procurement across the Welsh Public sector could be 

developed to ensure a consistent and fit for purpose delivery model is 

in place; in order to deliver commercial best practice and to deliver 

against the policy objectives, whilst addressing the current resource 

capacity issues and staff retention considerations as well as ensuring 

regional and local consideration are strengthened 

iii. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to review the fitness 

of individual public bodies’ procurement arrangements 

The Fitness Checks that were undertaken in the past were welcomed in 

principle, but the way the Fitness Checks was carried out was flawed. 

The appointment of external consultants who undertook the fitness checks 

review and were allocated only 1 day on site per organisation to undertake 

interviews etc. was insufficient and could never realistically begin to 

understand and assess the level of procurement maturity progress within a 

typical organisation. 

The Fitness Checks measures that organisations were being assessed against 

had also several weaknesses, since for example there was an expectation for 

individual Councils to adopt best practice such as category management 

implementation, where in reality the size and structure of the organisation 

being assessed wasn’t suitable to implement the desired improvements. 

Therefore different size public sector organisations were being unfairly 

benchmarked against each other. 

We would be supportive of continuing to use fitness checks in the future on 

the provision that the approach and format is changed and funding is made 

available to organisations to support them to implement any procurement 

improvement recommendations. 

Pack Page 136



iv. Actions that the Welsh Government is taking forward to promote e-

procurement. 

Welsh Government through Value Wales over the years has invested 

substantial amounts of funding on the development and implementation of 

e-procurement across the Welsh public sector. 

However, the level of take up of various e-procurement tools amongst 

individual organisations has been inconsistent and very poor considering the 

central funding investment provided to certain software providers under 

contract. 

Denbighshire Council although we are using the e-trading marketplace we 

are however receiving limited benefits, due to the difficulty in getting 

suppliers to engage to provide catalogue content and e-invoicing due to the 

software not being very user friendly. 

The Welsh Government E-procurement programme has at times lacked 

sufficient strategic direction with too much emphasis put on funding and 

promoting the e-trading marketplace which is a transactional procurement 

solution which hosts electronic supplier catalogues and promote electronic 

invoicing. There should have more focus on e-sourcing solutions including 

contract management as well as exploring category management tools which 

more aligned to strategic sourcing requirements rather than promoting and 

extensively funding software which dealt with ordering and payment 

transactions. 

Over the last ten years Denbighshire County Council has implemented and 

adopted an alternative e-procurement tools from PROACTIS, since it has 

been our vision that we need an integrated solution from a single software 

provider to cover the full procurement cycle rather than adopt the Welsh 

Government approach whereby different software providers provide different 

solutions which are not integrated and in some instances the software 

providers are duplicating functionality which is causing confusion within the 

sector. 

In the future we would welcome the continuation of investment and 

commitment shown by WG in promoting e-procurement, but WG needs to 

ensure that any funding and resource support made available (NB: It is 

currently unclear if there will be continuation of WG centrally funded 

Pack Page 137



support) must be made available to ALL Welsh public sector organisations 

regardless of which software provider that is being used. 

Also any future e-procurement tools that are being offered need to be 

selected based on the feedback and specific specification requirements of 

the Welsh public sector users rather than adopt software tools that are 

readily available on convenient framework arrangements procured by others 

such as the UK central government. Wales needs to be in control of our own 

e-procurement strategy rather than being influenced by public sector 

organisations outside Wales. 

v. Issues relating to access to the recruitment and retention of key 

procurement capability. 

Over the years the Welsh public sector organisations have recruited and 

invested in Procurement professionals. For example Denbighshire County 

Council has invested in and created 9 new procurement posts over the years 

and has also put in place a collaborative arrangement with Flintshire County 

Council for a joint procurement service which serves both Denbighshire and 

Flintshire Councils. 

However, since the creation of the National Procurement Service (NPS) the 

retention of staff has been difficult due to the higher salary grades that’s 

been offered. This has led to locally trained Procurement Officers being lost 

from the sector and this has been problematic especially in North Wales 

where there are problems in being able to recruit Procurement professional 

replacements. Going forward if Wales is to succeed in building for the future 

we need a programme of investment in a modern procurement professional.  

We require a more commercial awareness, a strategic approach with 

continued professional development.  

We also need to ensure that there is sufficient procurement resource capacity 

in each organisations to deal with the ever increasing workloads and the 

more complex procurement projects. There should be further consideration 

to see if central WG funding could be made available to ensure that the 1 

procurement professional per £10m ratio as stipulated in the Welsh 

Procurement Policy Statement is complied with. 

 Unless the resource capacity issue is addressed and contracts are procured 

and managed by capable Procurement professionals then we will still have 

scenarios of unqualified and in the main untrained officers in service areas 

Pack Page 138



which have procurement responsibilities in their job description being tasked 

to delivering efficiencies and being compliant with policy and regulatory 

requirements. 

1. The effectiveness of national governance arrangements, also in the 

context of the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government’s 

recent statement (21 September 2017) and the Welsh Government’s 

plans to merge the NPS Board and the National Procurement Board. 

This is something that we would welcome. However the new governance 

arrangements will need more strategic procurement representation, with board 

members who are senior procurement professionals who understand the 

procurement landscape and the challenges ahead. 

Also the new Board will also need to ensure there is a balance of geographical 

coverage, since in the past there has been no North Wales representation, which 

has resulted in the voice of North Wales not being sufficiently heard and 

feedback obtained from previous Board meetings being very limited. 

2. The effectiveness and impact of collaborative procurement 

arrangements through the main Wales-based procurement consortia 

and public buying organisations, with a particular focus on the role 

and development of the National Procurement Service. 

The effectiveness and impact of the National Procurement Service for 

Denbighshire has been very limited. Currently we are only benefiting from 20% 

of the 50+ framework agreements that have been procured. 

The main issue surrounds the lack of value for money considerations and the 

detrimental impact on our local supply chains. For example we recently 

benchmarked the NPS Sandwich filling agreement and established that the NPS 

prices were higher than our current prices. We then procured our own tender 

and as a result we achieved more favourable prices and awarded the contract to 

a local supplier. 

There is a need for more robust price benchmarking to be undertaken on NPS 

tenders at the tender evaluation stage to establish if the particular framework 

agreement does indeed provide value for money against current prices being 

paid within the Welsh public sector. 

 If it’s established that prices obtained by the NPS are not favourable in 

comparison then a decision must be made whether to proceed with the tender 

Pack Page 139

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2017/repositioningnpsandvaluewales/?lang=en


award process, thus avoiding the scenario of launching and promoting NPS 

framework agreements that are deemed not to be providing value for money. 

The NPS need to reform their operating delivery model, since in principle the 

theory of “Buying once for Wales” is sound in principle  provided the balance of 

commercial delivery and local social and economic benefits can be addressed 

going forward.  

The Council in implementing the new Corporate Procurement Strategy has had 

recent success in delivering efficiency savings whilst at the same time delivering 

a local supplier development programme in supporting local and Small Medium 

Friendly suppliers to win more public sector contracts.  

Additionally, the Council has also led on developing and managing the Regional 

21st Century Schools Construction Framework Agreement across North Wales. 

The approach that has been undertaken has resulted in local regional 

construction contractors being awarded the majority of the construction 

contracts whilst at the same time delivering impressive community benefits 

through collaboration amongst the framework contractors. 

The National Procurement Service should in theory be the contracting arm of 

choice for the entire Welsh public sector which could see the category of spend 

areas that they get involved in being extended to high spend areas such as 

construction and social care. However the NPS will need to regain the 

confidence within the sectors of being capable of delivery in the first instance. 

There is also the need for the NPS to consider awarding a greater number of 

suppliers onto respective framework agreements in order to provide greater 

user choice and provide more competition especially when doing further mini 

competitions. 

The NPS also need to more sensitive to the requirements of North Wales public 

sector organisations since there is a tendency for Category Forums to be held in 

the south and mid Wales, which makes it difficult for stakeholders in North 

Wales to participate and to feel part of the solution delivery. In many cases the 

evidence suggests that engagement in Category Forum meetings whereby the 

procurement sourcing approach is developed for individual framework 

agreements is not widely attended across different sectors across Wales, which 

then means that take up of the framework agreements when awarded is limited. 

Pack Page 140



In summary the procurement landscape across the Welsh public sector has 

evolved and developed over the years, however there still remains a number of 

challenges and improvements that must be addressed going forward as part of 

the Programme for Procurement. 

There also needs to a more joined up and clear strategic vision on how the 

Welsh public sector can work together on future procurement matters without 

compromising any local arrangements and policy objectives. 

Pack Page 141



Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 

PAC(5)-04-18 P4 

National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee: Public Procurement  

Evidence from Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 

I am grateful for this opportunity to submit a response to your inquiry – my focus 

will be on how the Well-being of Future Generations Act should be the overarching 

framework for public procurement in Wales so that it can lead to sustainable 

decisions ensuring that the needs of both current and future generations are being 

met and the four elements of well-being are improved. It is about ensuring that 

procurement embeds and delivers the vision of the Wales we want as set out by the 

well-being goals, helping public bodies discharge their duty and take all 

reasonable steps to meet their well-being objectives. 

As one of the areas for change listed in the statutory guidance procurement should 

be a key area of focus for public bodies in meeting their obligations under the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act. I’ve been in discussions with the Cabinet 

Secretary about how I can support Welsh Government to consider how procurement 

activity in Wales can deliver wider value and better contribute to social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 

We have had very positive engagement with officials in Value Wales and the 

National Procurement Service (NPS) over the last 12 months and have worked with 

them on developing a range of pilots to embed the Well-being of Future 

Generations Act into procurement activity. Through our support we have made it 

clear that we expect them to use the Act as a framework to change their approach 

to procurement (using the five ways of working and contributing to all seven well-

being goals) and as a tool for challenging business as usual. 

Welsh Government is testing its approach in applying the Well-being of Future 

Generations Act to public procurement in Wales, through establishing pilots in 

three work streams: 

1. Working with the National Procurement Service to apply the Act to 

commodities including food and ICT; 

2. Assisting five local authorities (Caerphilly, Torfaen, Monmouthshire, 

Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire) to apply the Act to their procurement activity 

including a specific category of spend; 

Pack Page 142

Agenda Item 7



3. Work with Natural Resources Wales (NRW) on exploring the links between 

procurement and their well-being objectives. 

Some examples of the work undertaken includes: 

To apply the Act to the new food contracts, my team worked with the National 

Procurement Service to explore how the five Ways of Working can help them to 

maximise the contracts’ contribution to the well-being goals. Food procurement 

objectives were developed which reflect the goals – including: 

− Creating lotting and zoning strategies which support the local economy and 

SME bidding; 

− Exploring innovative solutions to reduce carbon use, such as purchasing 

organic produce. 

− Encouraging collaborative tendering to support SME participation. 

− Take a holistic approach to sourcing to consider prevention and treatment. 

Purchase food which is healthy, nutritious and “Good for Health”; 

− Targeting better provision for the most vulnerable groups, linking with 

partners in Health to improve standards in schools and hospitals. 

− Reflecting cultural diversity within communities i.e. the need for ethnic foods 

such as halal and kosher; 

− Using whole life costing methodology to mitigate environmental impact; 

− Implement requirements of Ethical Employment Code of Conduct and 

Modern Slavery Act within tenders; 

− Purchase products with ethical (environmental & social) certification 

including fairly traded products e.g. Fairtrade Tea & Coffee. 

Many of these ideas could be incorporated into the contracts themselves, while 

others will be introduced as part of the contract management process. 

In terms of outcome - the recent NPS food tenders for fresh and packaged 

products reflected many of these aspects including Community Benefits, fairly 

traded products including undertaking a cost-benefit analysis on fairtrade 

bananas, fuel-efficient transport systems and increasing opportunities for small 

Pack Page 143



local firms/producers and third sector firms. The fresh food (including frozen 

meats contract) has been let with 80% of the suppliers being Welsh. Both fresh and 

packaged contracts incorporate a range of KPIs to support the Act and the results 

of these will be reported over coming months. 

A recent NPS Supplier engagement event for the ICT Framework contract took a 

similar approach with support from my team. At an engagement event they asked 

buyers and suppliers what they could do to contribute to the seven well-being 

goals and a range of ideas were presented including greater opportunities for 

business to support activities within local communities, exploring the carbon 

footprint of their products etc. There are clearly advantages to this type of 

approach in terms of generating a flow of ideas from the private sector and 

potential bidders.  Over the long term I would hope that this would support 

upskilling in the private sector in terms of understanding where the opportunities 

are for them to deliver against the requirements of the Act. Already Government 

funded organisations are supporting various sectors in this regard, a good 

example being Constructing Excellence Wales and the work that they are doing 

with the construction industry around embedding the Act. 

With support from my team, Welsh Government are working with five Local 

Authorities to apply the Act in their procurement processes. The focus of this pilot 

is likely to be on support through capacity building / training, providing standard 

clauses for procurement, increasing local suppliers in the supply chain and a focus 

on packaging/plastics and transportation. Lessons will be shared and the work can 

be replicated across Wales. The Procurement leads of these authorities are 

enthusiastic and willing to challenge business as usual. Progress to date has been 

rather slow, but our next steps will be to explore specific contracts/commodities 

to focus on, what capacity building is needed to support the required culture 

change, how to engage the supply chain (through Business Wales, BITC and others) 

to ensure they are responsive, and explore Wales-wide public sector commitments 

eg reducing plastics. 

From our work to date it is clear that some public sector bodies understand the 

need for procurement to maximise contribution to the seven well-being goals and 

are considering how this could be achieved. However applying the five ways of 

working is a greater challenge; Welsh Government need to demonstrate how they 

are doing this within procurement and lead by example for the public sector to 

follow. For example, for each of the above work streams crosscutting links with 

Pack Page 144



other Welsh Government departments have been identified e.g. Business Wales, 

Waste Strategy, Decarbonisation, Tackling Poverty, to encourage alignment and 

integration. We have emphasised the need to integrate this work with other work 

ongoing around setting well-being objectives, assessments and plans (Public 

Bodies & PSBs) to demonstrate how procurement can support this. However I am 

unclear how are they considering future trends and long-term challenges/ 

opportunities in technology to inform decisions being made today? How can 

procurement support the preventative agenda? 

There is an urgent need to clarify what outcomes procurement could deliver across 

the public sector in Wales; this needs to be looked at through the lens of the Well-

being of Future Generations Act and I would expect these to be included in the five 

year Programme for Procurement. Further information on how procurement can 

follow the five ways of working and contribute to all seven well-being goals is 

provided in Appendix 1. 

Wales Audit office reports 

The two reports published recently by the Auditor General for Wales – “Public 

Procurement in Wales” and “The National Procurement Service” – provide a good 

foundation on which to build. Welsh Government’s response will be critical and 

needs to ensure a holistic approach to deliver improvements to procurement in a 

way that maximises the £6.1bn spend. The work now needs to evolve to look at all 

aspects of procurement through a future generations lens to ensure  adequate 

consideration of the wider benefits and value that procurement could deliver, 

rather than a narrow focus on efficiencies and cost savings. 

Some of the key concerns that the report has raised for me are as follows:  

a) The fact that the Wales Procurement Policy Statement does not adequately 

reflect the Well-being of Future Generations Act – the current policy refers to 

three not four elements of well-being and needs to be updated urgently; 

b) There is no clear picture of spend across public bodies and how this data is 

being used to inform procurement decisions – if there is such a focus on 

cost savings and value for money surely all public bodies should be 

focussing their efforts on areas of greatest spend? 

c) Ongoing tension between lowest cost and achieving wider outcomes with 

value for money (lowest price) still seen as the key driver; 

Pack Page 145



d) High levels of dissatisfaction with collaborative arrangements and in 

particular NPS – how effective are these arrangements including ongoing 

contract management? 

e) Procurement strategies are not up-to-date so do not reflecting the Act or 

even Wales Procurement Policy Statement – again how effective is the 

national policy if it isn’t influencing local procurement approaches; 

f) The effectiveness of fitness checks to drive improvement; 

Of particular concern is that only half of respondents ascribed high importance to 

meeting the requirements of the Act, whilst when asked about WFG as one of ten 

competing priorities the Act was given the lowest priority (of all 10). The Act 

should be seen as the overarching framework under which all other priorities can 

be considered and delivered. 

We also need to learn from recommendations made by partners such as 

Constructing Excellence in Wales’ “No Turning Back” report1, published in 2010 

and reviewed/updated in 2015, focussing on construction procurement which is 

another area of considerable spend. Whilst several positive developments have 

been made in this time progress has been patchy. One of the more interesting 

findings is that a “focus on procurement may have been counter-productive. 

Procurement is not just tendering. It should be about a holistic approach to 

planning, bringing partners on board and delivering to satisfy stakeholders’ 

requirements. It does seem that the industry has become bogged down in 

prescriptive detail about processes and initiatives, when the real issue is delivery 

and delivery of best value (not lowest cost)”. 

Some of my key points are elaborated below: 

Leadership – although progress has been made over the last ten years, Welsh 

Government need to show continued leadership, ensuring the procurement 

process supports, and does not get in the way of, delivering wider outcomes. On a 

more local level the WAO review of 18 procurement  strategies highlights a number 

of issues including the fact that many have not reviewed for several years and so 

do not consider the Act despite the fact that procurement is listed as one of the 

core areas for change in the statutory guidance.  There is also inconsistent 

reference to the Welsh Government’s own Wales Procurement Policy Statement, and 

                                       
1 http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/5114/5458/1075/CEW_Noturningback_07_English.pdf  

Pack Page 146



only one using spend analysis information to inform their strategic approach to 

procurement. The National policy statement, local strategies and frameworks to 

support improvement (such as the fitness checks) needs to be simple but robust, 

fully reflecting the aspirations of the Act, to drive the positive change we want to 

see. Although I agree the Community Benefits Toolkit has achieved some  positive 

outcomes since its introduction, it needs to be updated to reflect the Act; I’m also 

not convinced that public bodies need a whole plethora of different toolkit so 

would encourage Welsh Government to review all toolkits and standardise or 

simplify. 

Collaborative arrangements – a range of collaborative arrangements exist in Wales 

with varying levels of success and satisfaction. Collaboration to encourage sharing 

expertise, knowledge and resources should be encouraged but the focus should 

not solely be on saving money but achieving better outcomes for the public sector. 

There is a need for a flexible model that works for all public bodies in Wales – that 

may be national for some procurements, but regional arrangements have also been 

successful. An example of this is the Ceredigion Procurement Forum who were able 

to secure 34 of 43 companies on a recent contract based within the county. The 

Forum actively works with all members of the local Public Services Board to 

encourage wider collaboration; Welsh Government and NPS should support and not 

constrain these collaborative arrangements. 

It is encouraging to see that NPS frameworks that account for a significant 

percentage of the total spend (Gas and Electricity and Agency workers accounting 

for 26% and 30% of spend respectively) are incorporating elements of the Act (e.g. 

100% of electricity supplied to Public sector is from renewables), all existing 

frameworks and contracts need to ensure that they embed all seven goals. For 

instance, is the renewable electricity supplied from local schemes and how could 

local communities also benefit? Are agency workers eligible for the Living Wage, 

not on zero hours contracts, and given some security of work? It’s positive that 

53% of NPS suppliers are based in Wales, and 40% are SMEs – however I would like 

to see a target to increase this across all frameworks. 

Welsh Government is reviewing NPS and as part of this it is critical that they 

consider all elements of the Act. The current categories of NPS savings are 

focussed on cost and efficiency – these need to be broadened to consider wider 

well-being outcomes and value that procurement can deliver to local economies 

and communities. 

Pack Page 147



Cost saving vs delivering wider outcomes: 

The WAO reports focus largely on cost savings and efficiencies, and although this 

is important we need to develop an approach to procurement that ensures that the 

Act and seven well-being goals are embedded in procurement without increasing 

cost for public bodies.  For far too long  procurement decisions have been made 

mainly on the basis of (today’s) cost, and whilst it’s important that public bodies 

are able to demonstrate responsible spending and value for money I feel that the 

focus on short-term financial cost without considering costs or benefits over the 

long-term, or other non-monetised costs (e.g. costs to people, communities or the 

environment) is not how decisions should be made. We need to be thinking about 

wider value and not just cost. 

A key barrier to sustainable procurement has been that it can cost more at least in 

the shortterm, even if it offers long-term savings. However the UK Sustainable 

Procurement Task Force showed that sustainable procurement, seen as an 

organisational priority which questions the need to spend, cuts out waste, seeks 

innovative solutions and is delivered by well trained professionals will reduce rather 

than add to public spending in both the short and the long run.  A resource 

efficient public sector will have lower impacts. 

Research commissioned on behalf of the Task Force revealed the potential for net 

benefits to be delivered through sustainable procurement as is the case of video 

conferencing for court appearances, for example. The procurement project 

replaced the transportation of prisoners to court for remand and other non-

sentencing hearings by video links and produced benefits which exceed the costs 

of the video conferencing. Discounting over 7 years, the life of the video 

conferencing contract, produces a net profit value of £645,776 at a 3.5% discount 

rate. As well as cost savings this had resulted in wider social benefits as well. 

A specific issue for infrastructure programmes is the artificial division of Capital 

and Operation (Capex / Opex) budgets. This does not represent value for money 

and facilitates short term decision making through encouraging consideration of 

short-term cost at the expense of longterm cost or value. These two strands need 

to be brought together into one budget to deliver an approach consistent with the 

Act. 

Of course I recognise the significant financial issues that are faced by Public Bodies 

currently, but with between a quarter and half of their total spend on procurement, 

I’m sure that by considering whole-life costs there will be ways of spending £6bn 

Pack Page 148



to maximise benefits across all four elements of well-being without costing too 

much more over the long-term. 

Finally some additional points of feedback from discussions with public bodies that 

are a cause of concern, and should be addressed, include the view that 

procurement is seen as blocker rather than an enabler, and a transactional rather 

than a transformational process; the legislative framework is constraining and the 

procurement landscape is very complex, uncoordinated, difficult to navigate, with 

all these potentially acting as a barrier to change.  There needs to be greater clarity 

and simplicity with a more holistic view of, and approach to, what procurement can 

achieve – for instance how can procurement help to protect people in our 

communities, which is different to the current approach which would focus on how 

we procure new flood defences. 

Conclusion 

I welcome the recent WAO report (Public Procurement in Wales); it is a good 

foundation on which to build, and I support all recommendations made in the 

report and specifically about improving governance arrangements and also 

capturing wider social, economic, environmental and cultural benefits as part of 

existing toolkits. The overall aim should be to ensure that the £6.1bn spent 

annually on goods and services in Wales is done in a way that follows the five ways 

of working and seeks to maximise contribution to all seven well-being goals. 

Welsh Government is developing a Five Year Programme for Procurement for Welsh 

Government and the wider public sector in Wales to outline what they would like 

procurement to achieve over this time. The Cabinet Secretary’s statement of 21 

September 2017 referred to needing a clear plan of future years procurement 

spend to enable investments to support sustainable jobs and growth, ethical 

employment practices and social value and improve resilience of local businesses 

and communities. It is critical that this Programme has a clear long-term vision 

about the role procurement can play in delivering well-being in Wales. 

Whilst I welcome the Government’s commitment to issues such as ethical 

procurement it will be essential that any new strategy or programme encompasses 

all seven of the national well-being goals and avoids confusion over priorities. I 

would like to see the Well-being of Future Generations Act embedded into this 

Programme and ensure that outcomes being sought support social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being. 

Pack Page 149



Finally, I am in discussion with the Auditor General about how we might work 

together to consider the possibility of a joint piece of work to further consider 

procurement through the lens of the Future Generations Act. Clearly, we will 

consider any recommendations made by the Public Accounts Committee before 

progressing this, and also how the Future Generations Act will be embedded into 

the new five year programme. 

The Act provides us with an opportunity to transform the way procurement is 

delivered in Wales. Using the Act as the overarching framework for public 

procurement means that public bodies should make procurement decisions in a 

way that seeks to deliver the best outcomes across all four elements of well-being, 

for current and future generations. 

  

Pack Page 150



Appendix 1 

Considering procurement through the lens of the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act: 

Five Ways of Working 

Long-term How are procurement decisions considering Future Trends and long-

terms changes, challenges but also opportunities?  There needs to 

be a long-term approach to contracts, with flexibility within to 

reflect political or technological changes. Focus on short-term 

issues and costs needs to change to consider whole-life approach 

and long-term costs, benefits and outcomes. How can Public Bodies 

work with suppliers to ensure they're able to respond to what the 

public sector needs in future? 

Example: 21st century schools programme building schools for the 

future, low carbon resilient buildings and environment, supporting 

development of skills for future, flexible spaces available for 

community use. 

Prevention Not buying is just as important to consider, along with whole life 

cost. Is there an opportunity to sell a service rather than a product 

(eg renting office furniture). Can Public Bodies re-use or refurbish 

items, rather than buying new, through using the Resource 

Distribution network? How can items be reused within the 

community eg in schools? How can we capture exxamples of where 

spending in one areas (eg gritting) can prevent pressure / spend in 

other areas (eg health)? Closure of facilities could be a short-term 

fix but leads to problems further down the line eg. isolation, 

loneliness. 

Collaboratio

n 

Developing flexible, effective models for collaborative procurement 

that work for Public bodies. How can procuring with other bodies 

lead to better outcomes, whilst also supporting economic, social, 

cultural and environmental well-being in your area? 

Pack Page 151

https://www.warp-it.co.uk/
https://www.warp-it.co.uk/
https://www.warp-it.co.uk/


Integration How can procurement support delivery of the wider priorities and 

objectives of your organisation, as well as maximising contribution 

across the seven well-being goals?  How can procurement deliver 

benefits to other services? The approach to procurement needs to 

consider the whole system, not just one area in isolation. 

Involvement How can contracts seek early commissioner, contractor and supplier 

involvement to help inform specifications through innovation and 

raise awareness of opportunities? How can you involve suppliers and 

end-users involved in the procurement process to deliver better 

outcomes? How can school children be involved in school meals 

provision eg planning meals which could deliver wider outcomes (eg 

health, reduce food waste)? Example: citizen involvement in 

Caerphilly council’s work on the Quality Homes standard - tenants 

are trained and are part of process.  

Seven well-being goals: How can your procurement spend encourage…  

Prosperous 

Wales 

− Low carbon and energy-efficient goods and services 

− A low carbon economy and decarbonisation, including for 

transportation 

− Skills/training for future jobs 

− Innovative solutions 

− Circular economy and efficient use of resources 

− Increased spend with SMEs, local business and third sector 

(Wales already at 48% compared to UK 12%) 

− Increased employment of local people 

Example: Preston council used Social Value Act to increase spend 

from local companies from 14 to 28%. 

Example: Swansea Community Energy Scheme (SCEES) – explored 

innovative ways of delivering social value, and developed a new 

model for procuring community benefits through renewable energy 

Pack Page 152



for council buildings. Example: M&S Plan A - Over the first 5 years 

this has even led to a net benefit of £185m 

http://annualreport.marksandspencer.com/M&S_PlanA_Report_201

6.pdf 

Resilient 

Wales 

− Support biodiversity, healthy and resilient ecosystems 

through sustainable management of natural resources  

− Zero Waste, promoting use of re-used recycled/ recyclable 

products 

− Circular economy & responsible resource use 

− Promote use of take-back schemes and move to full re-use 

of resources at end of life 

− Vulnerability of products and supply chains to external 

factors which are increasingly likely due to the impacts of 

climate change? 

− Environmental impact of raw materials for goods and 

services 

Example: Thailand was a global centre of hard drive manufacture in 

2012 however it was predicted that world output could fall by 30% 

in the final 3 months of that year because of the impact of flooding 

in the country. 

Healthier 

Wales 

− Promote better physical and mental health and wellbeing for 

workforce and citizens 

− Health impacts of products? E.g. Food 

− Encourage uptake of green / low carbon fleet to improve air 

quality 

− Impacts of transporting goods on health & wellbeing? 

Pack Page 153

http://annualreport.marksandspencer.com/M&S_PlanA_Report_2016.pdf
http://annualreport.marksandspencer.com/M&S_PlanA_Report_2016.pdf


Equal Wales − Promote decent work with fair and equal pay and conditions 

available to all 

− Remove barriers to employment for disadvantaged and 

minority groups 

− Impacts along whole supply chain? Do contracts involve 

products that are made by children or other disadvantaged 

groups? 

− supporting better employment conditions for workers 

through the supply chain? 

− Ensuring services you are contracting (e.g. cleaning or 

homecare) paying a decent wage even if this is being 

outsourced? 

− Can you demonstrate a positive impact on local 

communities? 

Viable, safe, 

Wellconnecte

d, Cohesive 

Communities 

− A local economy that supports thriving communities 

− Supporting social enterprises or building on community 

benefits? 

− Transport to encourage accessibility 

− Creating local employment, training and supply chain 

opportunities 

− Understanding rural vs urban issues (eg relationship with 

farmers / agricultural community) 

Vibrant 

culture, 

heritage and 

welsh 

language 

− Representing and reflecting the diversity and culture of 

communities? 

− Catering for diverse backgrounds 

− Encouraging and supporting local culture, heritage and welsh 

language 

Pack Page 154



Globally 

Responsible 

Wales 

− Fairtrade / ethical 

− Reducing our carbon footprint 

− Supporting local supply chains 

− Encouraging responsible resource use 

− Considering energy and food security issues 

− Global citizenships 

Example: pupils support for Fairtrade school uniforms 

 

Pack Page 155


	Agenda
	2 Paper(s) to note
	3 The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales Project: Evidence Session with the Welsh Government
	4 Public Procurement: Committee correspondence
	PAC(5)-04-18 PTN2 - NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership
	PAC(5)-04-18 PTN3 - Welsh Government
	PAC(5)-04-18 PTN4 - Welsh Local Government Association
	PAC(5)-04-18 PTN5 - Cardiff University – Jayne Lynch
	PAC(5)-04-18 PTN6 - Higher Education Purchasing Consortium, Wales (HEPCW)

	5 Public Procurement: Evidence Session 1
	PAC(5)-04-18 P1 - Caerphilly County Borough Council
	PAC(5)-04-18 P2 - Cardiff Council

	6 Public Procurement: Evidence Session 2 (By video conference)
	7 Public Procurement: Evidence Session 3

